

Accountability in modern government

Recommendations for change



About this report

This report is for anyone interested in the state of accountability within government in the UK.

Our April 2018 discussion paper identified issues with accountability in Whitehall, in wider public services and with the culture of accountability.

This report offers solutions to improve accountability that tackle the problems caused by these weaknesses.

For more information visit: www.instituteforgovernment.org.uk/accountability-modern-government

Contents

Foreword	2
Summary	3
The benefits of strong accountability	3
Addressing weaknesses in the system	4
Seven recommendations for stronger accountability	4
1. Introduction	9
Accountability matters	9
Accountability in the UK Government is too weak	10
Understanding and reinforcing basic responsibilities	11
Overlapping responsibilities are inevitable	12
Solutions for better accountability	13
2. Addressing gaps in Whitehall's accountability	14
Holding ministers to account for their projects' feasibility	14
Preventing repeated failures in the civil service	17
3. Making accountability work in a complex public sector	23
Clarifying what public services citizens get for their money	24
Ensuring that accountability across public services works in practice	27
Strengthening scrutiny of the links between local public services	30
4. Creating a culture of improvement	34
Getting better information earlier, to enable improvement	36
Parliamentary scrutiny that promotes learning and improvement	38
Developing future civil service leaders to embrace accountability	42
References	43

Foreword

Strong accountability provides the foundation of a healthy democracy. It ensures a relationship between the public and those in government who have power to shape their lives. People expect performance to be rewarded if good or penalised if poor, and the demonstration that this happens matters for their trust in government. But the rules of accountability also need to enable those in government to learn from failure.

Across the UK, officials are responsible for a wide range of complex policies which, at the moment, include Brexit as well as the regular demands of running prisons, providing health care, building infrastructure and so on.

Within such a complex system, problems inevitably arise. When this happens, strong principles of accountability will ensure that the individuals responsible for failure confront the mistakes they have made. Where they have been genuinely negligent or reckless, heads must roll. This is the price that ministers and officials pay for the responsibilities they wield.

However, a system of accountability that looks only backwards does little to help prevent future failure, and perpetuates a culture of blame which can be unhelpful.

Our previous discussion paper outlined the major problems with the rules of accountability in UK government. Here, we offer responses that we think can help to fix those problems. We want to help avoid the next Windrush or Grenfell scandals by improving scrutiny of decisions, and by ensuring that ministers take responsibility for the projects and policy areas that they oversee. We want discussions of risk – particularly for major projects such as Universal Credit – to happen early, rather than after the fact.

Accountability must balance learning lessons with real consequences for those responsible.

Our recommendations are the product of a year of research and consultation. We have built on previous work by the Institute for Government and others to outline ways to strengthen accountability, in order to reduce the risk of failure and harm.

Bronwen Maddox

Director, Institute for Government

Summary

Accountability lies at the heart of democratic government. The current system displays critical weaknesses, but these can be addressed. This report is a follow-up to our April 2018 discussion paper, which outlined the weaknesses that affect accountability in the UK. Here we present recommendations which aim to improve accountability: clarifying the relationship between ministers and civil servants, meeting the challenges of complex modern government, and shifting the culture of accountability from blame to learning and improvement.

Strong accountability matters – and when it works, it benefits everyone. It enables people to know how the Government is doing, and how to gain redress when things go wrong. It ensures that ministers and civil servants are acting in the interests of the people that they serve. Accountability is a part of good governance, and can increase the trustworthiness and legitimacy of the state in the eyes of the public.

The benefits of strong accountability

At its heart, accountability is about a relationship between those responsible for something, and those who have a role in passing judgement on how well that responsibility has been discharged. When accountability works well, it enables a degree of feedback between the Government and the public that it serves.

While strong accountability is not a panacea for solving the numerous challenges that government faces in a complex environment, it can improve government. It generates incentives for responsible individuals to act in the interests of the public. Sometimes this means that 'heads must roll' following a major failure; but a healthy system of accountability also promotes improvements in how government works. This should include:

- proportionate rewards for good performance
- · proportionate sanctions for failure
- · a greater degree of learning than the current system contains
- support for responsible individuals to develop, so that they are able to innovate and take appropriate risks.

The scale and scope of government activities has grown increasingly complex in recent decades, and this trend looks set to continue. However, complexity is not an excuse for negligence, neither should it serve as a cover; rather, it is a challenge that government

SUMMARY 3

must face. Strong accountability helps responsible individuals to manage complexity better.

Addressing weaknesses in the system

More than 21,000 people, including MPs and councillors, are democratically accountable to UK citizens and scrutinise the public services that 5.3 million public sector workers deliver daily. In recent years, accountability and transparency have improved around the Government's major projects and around government departments' arrangements for managing public money.

In spite of this, our discussion paper, Accountability in Modern Government: What are the issues?, highlighted examples of failures related to accountability weaknesses, including financial mismanagement, chronic underperformance and service collapse. There are three main weaknesses in the current system of accountability which increase the risk that such failures might occur:

- Fundamental gaps in accountability at the heart of Whitehall. The conventions
 that shape the relationship between officials and ministers have evolved in a
 way that undermines accountability. They promote a tradition of secrecy, which
 results in a lack of clarity about the responsibilities of senior officials and ministers.
 These conventions also confine responsibilities to departmental silos, which
 denies reality.
- 2. Successive administrations have failed to ensure that accountability has kept pace with the increasing complexity of modern government at all levels, including local and devolved government. Modern government achieves its aims by delivering services through complex networks of departments and public bodies, private and voluntary sector providers, with inconsistent arrangements for oversight, inspection, regulation and scrutiny.
- 3. Accountability is too focused on blame, when it needs to focus on improvement. Too often, judgements regarding accountability rely on the informal and subjective nature of politics, which have a tendency to overemphasise blame. The political element of accountability interacts poorly with a high-stakes environment which places almost all responsibility on those at the top. This promotes defensiveness and a focus on compliance, and precludes learning from mistakes.

Seven recommendations for stronger accountability

Strengthening accountability across the breadth of government requires a range of reforms. This report outlines seven proposals to address issues arising from the weaknesses that we have identified. Together these changes would:

- improve transparency around the feasibility of major projects
- provide stronger oversight of the civil service
- clarify what public services citizens get for their money
- ensure that government policies have strong accountability arrangements built in

- strengthen scrutiny of the links between local public services
- · support earlier investigations of possible failures
- improve the scrutiny that Parliament provides.

1. Holding ministers to account for the feasibility of their projects

A pervasive culture of secrecy shields both ministers and senior civil servants from meaningful scrutiny when major projects underperform or fail. Stronger accountability is needed to counterbalance the ambiguity and unavoidable uncertainty of decision making. It is not enough to identify who is responsible for the decision once failure becomes apparent: we need proactive methods which offer assurance that the responsible individuals have properly considered the risks associated with major projects *before* they begin.

To achieve this we propose that permanent secretaries, in their role as departmental accounting officers, should publish more details on the feasibility, potential risks and mitigation strategies in place for their department's major projects after they have been agreed. This should be subject to external validation and provide the

Strong accountability helps responsible individuals to manage complexity better

basis for future scrutiny of the project. Parliamentary select committees should recall ministers who have subsequently left post to answer questions about the decisions made during the inception of a project, especially where subsequent underperformance or failures have resulted in harm to the public.

These proposals would provide more clarity about the basis on which decisions were made. This would help to ensure that relevant issues are raised with ministers before a project starts. Moreover, it would provide Parliament with material to scrutinise these projects as they are implemented.

2. Preventing repeated failures in the civil service

The civil service has displayed long-standing weaknesses in how it uses specialist skills, and in challenging policies that fall short of standards for spending public money. Civil service leaders have a collective responsibility to ensure that the civil service has the right capability in place to deliver the Government's priorities, that this capability is being developed appropriately, and that specific aspects of the accountability system (such as the accounting officer role) operate effectively to safeguard value for money for taxpayers. There is a lack of accountability for these collective responsibilities, and the structure and conventions of Whitehall make it difficult to tackle any resulting issues. This has enabled repeated failures caused by the same underlying problems to occur, wasting public money and even directly harming individuals.

In order to ensure that these collective responsibilities are fulfilled, the Prime Minister should appoint a dedicated minister committed to overseeing reform of the civil service, to help deal with these cross-cutting weaknesses. This is formally the most effective structure for ensuring that the civil service faces up to the challenges

SUMMARY 5

highlighted above, as it would provide clear leadership and help sponsor senior civil servants' efforts at ministerial level. However, ministerial interest in civil service reform is variable, and there have been high levels of churn in the post of Minister for the Civil Service in recent years. In light of this, we recommend that the Government establishes an oversight board, which would incorporate experienced non-executives from across the public and private sectors to provide independent support and challenge to civil service leaders.

In particular, a board would provide a forum for strategic discussions on civil service capability and how it is being developed; and whether existing accountability mechanisms or strategies to help civil servants to raise difficult issues with ministers are being implemented successfully.

3. Clarifying what public services citizens get for their money

Currently, there is too little independent challenge and scrutiny of the link between the funding allocated to public services, how well they perform, and how sustainably they can run. Responsibilities for most policy areas are overlapping, with ministers and other political leaders deciding what services should be provided. Meanwhile, the Treasury decides how much money to allocate, and local leaders such as police chiefs and hospital executives determine how a service is run. This arrangement commonly results in failure to consider how spending affects performance.

To address this, we propose that government and Parliament should ensure that transparent, authoritative information and data underpins the spending review process, which sets departments' budgets for the next three to five years. Departments should publish statements at the end of each spending review that set out any changes to planned spending, and how these will be delivered in practice. These should be independently scrutinised to check the quality of financial and performance models used by departments to underpin the proposed statements.

This proposal would ensure that decisions are based more clearly on evidence. It would increase understanding of spending decisions which otherwise may seem arbitrary, and encourage continuous improvement in the data that underpins decision making.

4. Ensuring that accountability across public services works in practice

There are many examples of instances when accountability arrangements have failed to protect the public. Specific accountability arrangements vary between policy areas, but sometimes accountability is not built in from the start or is dismantled over time – in either circumstance, this can cause harm to specific groups or individuals. However, ministers do not always take responsibility for ensuring that policies have effective accountability arrangements built into them: this should change.

We propose that there should be a systematic way to assess the effectiveness of accountability arrangements. To do this in the area of financial management, the Treasury should further develop its guidance to assess the quality of accounting officer system statements (the documents prepared by each accounting officer which outline all the accountability arrangements within the department and its agencies).

To do this more widely, especially in relation to policy, departments should review other accountabilities on an ongoing basis. The findings from these reviews should be published and signed off by the minister responsible.

These changes would encourage government departments and agencies to ensure that effective accountability arrangements are put in place and maintained. This would help to ensure that policies work as intended.

5. Strengthening scrutiny of the links between local public services

Government provides a wide range of services on which the public rely. Many of these services have to be delivered in a joined-up way, on a routine basis, to benefit the public. This is challenging, because decisions made in some areas have an impact on others in ways that are not always well understood. While responsibility for each service is vested in a particular individual, there is no overall responsibility for examining the links between services. This creates accountability gaps, which can be detrimental to performance.

Our recommendation is that the Government should build up local capacity to track the links between different local public services, and to examine how these relationships influence the respective performance of services. To do so, it should review the case for setting up local Public Accounts Committees (PACs) – initially in combined mayoral authorities – to serve as a forum to convene the local leaders responsible for different services to discuss service performance and the links between services.

We also need capacity to track the links between different local public services, and to examine how these influence service performance. This could take the form of new performance assessment units, which could aggregate data independently and share this information as part of a network.

These changes would not absolve local public service leaders of their responsibilities, especially where services fail. However, they would improve local leaders' ability to pre-empt failure by enabling earlier discussions about how services place pressure on each other. It also would promote learning about how service leaders can work together better to mitigate these challenges, and deliver better services to the public.

6. Getting better information earlier, to prevent the blame game

The current system of accountability often holds off on meaningful scrutiny of issues or failure until the point when they become full-blown crises. While some public services have well-established, top-down systems to routinely track performance, we need a stronger, bottom-up system which can investigate failings earlier. The various ombudsman services serve as a backstop for individual members of the public who have been harmed by the Government in some way, where they have not been able to resolve the complaint directly with the service provider. Yet there are limits to the effectiveness of ombudsman services: in particular they lack the ability to initiate investigations on the basis of their own concerns, in the absence of a specific referral. This means that where early warnings are raised, they are not escalated early enough to those who could make meaningful changes – specifically within Parliament and the Government.

SUMMARY 7

To address this, we propose that the Government should bring forward the Draft Public Services Ombudsman Bill, which would help to consolidate several of the existing ombudsman services into a single, more effective unit. In addition, the Government should grant 'own motion' powers to ombudsman services, so that they can initiate investigations sooner.

These proposals would help to integrate the main early-warning system for government failure into central mechanisms of accountability, in particular scrutiny by parliamentary select committees. Earlier investigation would increase the likelihood of solving issues before they become crises. This would make it possible for those responsible to be scrutinised in a way that is not solely focused on blame and sanctions, but on learning from what happened, so that they can improve.

7. Parliamentary scrutiny that promotes learning and improvement

Parliamentary select committees are the ultimate form of scrutiny, checking the work of government. Yet scrutiny typically comes late and, too frequently, at the point of political crisis. In doing so, it can miss opportunities to drive improvement. This is partly due to lack of resources, and the limited time that MPs have available. It also results in few issues being followed up over the medium and long term. These inherent weaknesses are compounded by the temptation for MPs to engage in political theatre, rather than in-depth scrutiny.

Earlier investigation would increase the likelihood of solving issues before they become crises

There are two ways to promote improvements in scrutiny. Select committees should apply scrutiny earlier – using the new information generated by our proposed feasibility assessments, system statements and strengthened ombudsman services, detailed elsewhere in this report – to get issues onto their

agendas before they escalate. Also, when failure happens despite early intervention, committees should be able to follow up issues over the long term, to minimise the risk that similar failure might reoccur. This would involve scrutinising the Government's efforts to implement the recommendations made by public inquiries. To support these efforts, we also recommend that the committees are given more staff resources.

These improvements would have several benefits. Earlier scrutiny would prevent issues from developing into crises that are solved by punishing those perceived to be responsible. This also would enable committees to act as a forum where those responsible can learn from their mistakes, and correct their course of action.

1. Introduction

Accountability plays a big part in determining the public's trust in government. However, in its current form it is beset with weaknesses. This not only damages trust, but also can harm the public. This report offers solutions for improving accountability in UK government.

This report sets out the recommendations of our project on accountability in modern government. The project has benefited from the insights of our advisory group, as well as interviews and contributions stimulated by the publication of our initial discussion paper¹ in April 2018.

Our discussion paper identified three factors that weaken accountability in government:

- 1. There are fundamental gaps in Whitehall's accountability, which affect both ministers and civil servants.
- 2. Successive governments have failed to ensure that accountability has kept pace with the increasing complexity of modern public service delivery, which is defined by decentralisation and outsourcing, among other factors.
- 3. Often, the culture of accountability in government is focused on blame rather than on improvement.

This report makes recommendations for addressing these weaknesses. This chapter sets out our view of why accountability matters. It argues that the complexity of modern government at all levels creates overlapping responsibilities. However, regardless of these overlaps, individuals must be held to account for their responsibilities.

Accountability matters

Accountability in government matters. It is vital that those running government, with the vast power that this implies, are clearly accountable for their actions to the people that government serves. When things go wrong, it may well be the case that 'heads must roll'. Sometimes this is because individuals have been directly responsible for serious failings – but more often, the existing leadership has to resign, given the scale of an issue, or because it cannot be in charge of putting problems right.

However, there is more to effective accountability than simply seeking people to sack after failure has occurred. When it works effectively, accountability promotes improvement in how government works, thereby promoting citizens' confidence in

INTRODUCTION 9

their government. In this way, accountability can increase the wider legitimacy of the public sector.^{2,3,4}

Effective accountability creates an environment that:

- **promotes learning** to ensure that successes are repeated and failures avoided in the future. The role of learning through accountability is increasingly recognised as a vital mechanism to drive improvement⁵
- generates incentives (rewards for good performance and sanctions when it is poor)
 for individuals and organisations to act in citizens' interests
- enables desirable risk-taking and innovation ultimately, appetite for risk and innovation comes down to organisational culture, where rewards go to those who recognise risk and the focus is on mitigating it
- **develops individuals** making them better able to achieve their goals and improve in their role. Those holding people to account should be providing advice and constructive challenge, clarifying questions of role and purpose, and helping to focus efforts.

Accountability in the UK Government is too weak

The accountability system currently in place has many strengths. More than 21,000 people including MPs, councillors and elected mayors are directly and democratically accountable to citizens. They are in charge of scrutinising the services delivered to citizens by 5.3 million (m) public sector workers daily.⁶ In Westminster, Parliament plays a crucial role in holding the Government to account. In Whitehall, departmental accounting officers are personally responsible for how their departments manage public money, with oversight from the Treasury and independent scrutiny from the National Audit Office.



steps in recent years to build better accountability arrangements

Moreover, the civil service has taken steps in recent years to build better accountability arrangements. The Government has started to publish assessments of how the implementation of major projects is going. In 2014, the Government revised the Osmotherly Rules, which frame the relationship between civil

servants and select committees so that senior responsible owners for major projects now can be held directly accountable by Parliament for implementation. More recently, the National Audit Office and the Treasury have started to bring greater transparency to major projects and accountability arrangements for the public money managed by departments, by mandating accounting officers to publish assessments of some major projects, and system statements.⁷

In spite of this, significant weaknesses in accountability remain. We included many examples of failures in our discussion paper, *Accountability in Modern Government*, including financial mismanagement, chronic underperformance and service collapse. These included issues with major programmes such as Universal Credit, the collapse of

academy school chains, and tragedies such as the 2017 Grenfell Tower fire in West London. We showed that when things go wrong, all too often no one can be held responsible and lessons are not learned. In the worst cases, the public are harmed and lives can be ruined.

The symptoms of weak accountability are visible in these failures. They include a lack of:

- clarity about who was responsible
- consequences for good and bad performance
- transparency and information.

Most tellingly, the same patterns of failure occur repeatedly, such as flagship policies running into difficulties, public services that underperform, or public money being wasted through cost overruns or delays.

Understanding and reinforcing basic responsibilities

At its heart, accountability is about a relationship between those responsible for something, and those who have a role in passing judgement on how well that responsibility has been discharged.

Effective accountability relies on clarity about who is responsible for what. Therefore, it is important that we preface our recommendations by reaffirming the basic responsibilities inherent to the UK's system of government, namely that:

- ministers (and political leaders in devolved and local government) are responsible for policy decisions this includes ensuring that decisions can be implemented
- the civil service leadership (and equivalent leaders in devolved and local government) are responsible for ensuring that ministers (and equivalent political leaders in other levels of government) receive the advice they need, and that there is capability to implement ministers' policies
- the Treasury is responsible for ensuring that funding matches the agreed policies of the Government that it is sufficient to deliver policies, without creating waste
- the leaders of public sector organisations (chief executives of NHS trusts, police chiefs, heads of regulatory bodies, among others) are responsible for their organisations' performance, ensuring that they are delivering the services determined by government policy
- private and voluntary sector contractors are responsible for providing the services set out in their contracts.

This division of responsibilities has deep historic roots, emerging from the many conventions around UK government which have developed over the years. We

INTRODUCTION 11

provided a full discussion of how these evolved in our discussion paper, *Accountability* in *Modern Government*.

Overlapping responsibilities are inevitable

In practice, virtually all of these responsibilities overlap. Government is too complex to break down every action and identify one – and only one – person responsible for it. Nonetheless, the fact that responsibilities overlap does not mean that nobody can be held to account. People retain their respective responsibilities, and should be accountable for them regardless of others' performance. One of the key overlaps is in the responsibilities of ministers and civil servants within Whitehall. In setting policy, ministers are responsible for the decisions, while civil servants are responsible for the quality of advice.

Yet the 2018 Windrush scandal saw thousands of UK citizens at risk of being deported because of the Government's immigration policy, and ultimately led to the departure of Amber Rudd as Home Secretary. This case illustrates the overlaps in responsibility that apply both when policy is decided, and as the implications of implementing it become clear.

Theresa May, when Home Secretary, decided on the policy of creating a "hostile environment" for illegal immigrants. As the policy's architect she should be accountable for those decisions, even if under the principle of ministerial responsibility her successors are now formally accountable for them. This remains true, regardless of whether advice from civil servants highlighted the risk of innocent people having their lives turned upside-down. Rather than letting the minister 'off the hook', poor advice simply changes the questions that a minister should be asked: 'Why did you not consider whether this might happen?' instead of 'Why did you ignore the advice?'

Equally, the fact that Theresa May remains responsible for the decision does not mean that the civil service should not be held accountable for the quality of its advice. Did that advice highlight the risks? Did it propose ways that those risks could be monitored or mitigated? Regardless of the ministers' decisions, the civil service remains responsible for ensuring the quality of the advice that ministers receive.

These overlaps also apply to policy implementation. When Amber Rudd became Home Secretary, the principle of ministerial responsibility meant that ultimately she was responsible for the consequences of implementing the policy that she had inherited. She alone had the power to review and change it, and she was responsible for not acting, even when individual Windrush cases were being highlighted in the media. However, equally the civil service is responsible for making sure that the policy was implemented in line with ministerial intentions, and to flag up the problems to ministers as they began to arise.

Such overlaps are inherent in government. They become more complex beyond Whitehall, where other organisations and political leaders (from devolved governments to local mayors, and councillors to police and crime commissioners) are involved. But the principle must remain the same: responsibilities remain in place

regardless of any overlap, and of the success or failure of others in discharging their responsibilities.

Solutions for better accountability

The Institute for Government's discussion paper on accountability identified three broad weaknesses with accountability:

- fundamental gaps in accountability within Whitehall
- outdated accountability in the wider public sector
- a culture of accountability which focuses on blame rather than improvement.

The main chapters of this report identify the most significant problems that flow from these weaknesses, and offer solutions.

Each chapter outlines the specific problem addressed, followed by recommendations to strengthen accountability. Our proposals go to the heart of the issues:

- breaking down the culture of secrecy that envelopes Whitehall's decisions
- requiring ministers who made decisions to initiate major projects, in spite of warnings, to answer for their consequences if they flounder or fail
- developing proactive means to correct recurring failures, before they lead to political crisis.

None of these recommendations is a silver bullet that will prevent future problems. Those looking for a single "big idea" to transform accountability across the vast range of activity of a modern government are likely to be perpetually disappointed. But those content with the status quo underestimate the risks of keeping accountability arrangements as they are, given the harm that they potentially enable to carry on unchecked.

INTRODUCTION 13

2. Addressing gaps in Whitehall's accountability

Accountability in Whitehall is shaped by conventions that have evolved in ways creating accountability gaps. We propose solutions to hold ministers and civil service leaders better to account.

The decisions made by the Government in Whitehall have a significant impact on citizens and businesses. Yet a tradition of secrecy pervades Whitehall. This makes it difficult to understand who is responsible for these decisions, and the evidence on which they are based. Ultimately, this enables ministers to promise more than their department can realistically achieve, and the civil service to escape responsibility for the advice that it provides.

We suggest that there should be greater transparency, so that ministers can be held accountable for how feasible their projects are, and civil servants for the advice that they provide.

In addition, Whitehall's conventions make it difficult to tackle issues occurring across departments, such as:

- repeated failure to build and deploy specialist skills
- failure to strategically ensure that aspects of the system operate effectively.

We propose ways to create greater accountability through independent, permanent oversight to support civil service leaders.

Holding ministers to account for their projects' feasibility

Too often, Whitehall's culture of secrecy protects ministers who make bad decisions on major projects, and civil servants who deliver poor advice. The solution is not just to make it easier to identify who was responsible after the event (although our proposals would achieve this), but to make clear that there has been proper consideration of the issues *before* decisions are taken.

As mentioned previously, ministers are responsible for decisions on major projects, including whether the projects they authorise can be implemented. Civil service leaders in departments are responsible for the quality of policy advice associated with the minister's projects, and for ensuring that the department has the necessary specialist skills and capability to deliver the minister's priorities. These decisions are complex and feature an element of inherent uncertainty, as evidence and information can change over time.

However, ministers often agree to projects that face serious known challenges or risks, making them very likely to fail. These failures not only waste public funds, but also harm the public at times.¹ For example, after 2013, the then Secretary of State for

Justice, Chris Grayling, decided to reform the probation service by outsourcing services and reducing the amount spent on the system. He did so in spite of both internal and external warnings that making sweeping changes to the system within a short timescale, and before the general election in 2015, would be risky. In the end the reform did not reduce reoffending, and failed to achieve its initial goal of opening up the market.²

In some cases, civil servants misjudge the feasibility of a policy when advising ministers. In 2006, the Rural Payments Agency struggled to implement the Single Payment Scheme, which resulted in payments to farmers being delayed. The National Audit Office commented that the agency had underestimated the effort required to

often... policy decisions do not take into account the actual risks involved in implementation

deliver the scheme.³ Officials at the agency reportedly assured ministers that it would be feasible to implement the most complex of three options for making single payments to English farmers. This advice served as a basis for the minister, Margaret Beckett, selecting the most complex option.⁴

Such difficulties often arise because policy decisions do not take into account the actual risks involved in implementation – leading to what has been described as a 'valley of death' that projects must cross when moving from policy to implementation.⁵ Weak accountability heightens the risk that such failures are allowed to occur repeatedly.⁶ On the one hand, ministers have every incentive to be seen as active reformers. This can lead them to focus on announcing big projects, with less regard for their feasibility as they are implemented in future years. Ministers' tenure is often short⁷ and frequently they either are given a new portfolio, or have left government altogether, by the time that the projects they have introduced either flounder or fail.

On the other hand, a high degree of secrecy surrounds their decisions. It is not possible for an external observer to tell whether civil servants have given the minister all the necessary advice, or to judge whether it was good quality. The advice given to ministers is confidential: this provides an essential 'safe space' for deliberation. However, it also makes it difficult to distinguish between instances where ministers:

- decide to go ahead with a project, even though the civil service has flagged up major risks
- authorise a project because the relevant risks were not raised
- take a balanced decision that a project should go ahead, because its benefits to the public outweighs the potential risks which the department is working to mitigate.⁸

It is important to protect the privacy of decision making, so as to avoid diluting the candid nature of the advice provided. Yet, in order to hold ministers and civil servants to account, external scrutiny needs to be able to unpick which of these scenarios have applied, once decisions to go ahead with projects have been made.

Tools and approaches already exist which can be built on to improve accountability. Accounting officers are personally responsible for ensuring the standards of propriety, regularity, value for money and feasibility of spending by their department, as set out in Treasury guidance. The guidance also requires that accounting officers conduct assessments of major projects at key stages (Accounting Officer Assessments), using these criteria. In 2017, following efforts from the National Audit Office, Public Accounts Committee (PAC) and the Treasury, the Government committed to making summaries of these assessments publicly available. Although these new requirements need time to bed in, since then only two summaries have been published – one of which was disappointingly bland. The Infrastructure and Projects Authority publishes red—amber—green ratings, which highlight implementation issues to Parliament and the public after decisions are made. Finally, the civil service's internal audit function has been strengthened in recent years, which has helped foster better conversations about risk within Whitehall.

Although these recent developments are a step in the right direction, more can be done, as set out in the recommendations below.

Recommendations

There should be greater transparency around the decisions made by ministers and the advice that they receive from civil servants at an early stage in a project's life cycle. This would prevent issues from arising later on, and enable ministers and/or civil servants to be held to account in the event of project failures. To enable this:

- Select committees should call ministers back to give an account of their decisions, even after they have left office. In recent years, committees have recalled former civil servants, ¹¹ including accounting officers, "where there is a clear rationale for doing so". ¹² For example, in 2006, former accounting officer John Gieve appeared before PAC, alongside his successor David Normington, to discuss the Home Office's accounts. ¹³ Similarly, Parliament should hold former ministers to account. Although there are restrictions on sitting MPs or peers being summoned to give evidence, ¹⁴ it should become the norm for committees to call the individuals responsible for decisions (for example, to initiate a project) to account, rather than simply questioning those who inherited these decisions. This is particularly relevant where ministers have decided to push ahead with highly risky or overly ambitious projects, despite being made aware of the risks involved for taxpayers' money, or to the public themselves. There should be a presumption that former ministers would respond to such calls regardless of whether they could be formally summoned.
- Accounting officers should publish the risks identified and mitigations put in place for the delivery of major projects, to provide an agenda for future scrutiny. Currently, accounting officers publish summaries of Accounting Officer Assessments to bring greater transparency to the feasibility of major projects which form part of a department's major projects portfolio. It is particularly important that future iterations of these summary assessments address feasibility concerns. Failing that, we recommend that accounting officers publish in full the discussion of feasibility made in the Accounting Officer Assessment after a project has been agreed, or at least a document clearly outlining the detail of the risks identified and how they are to be mitigated. Either way, there should be a way for these documents to be

endorsed by the relevant minister, and they should be addressed to the chair of the PAC as well as the chair of the relevant select committee.

- There should be some external validation that these documents are high quality. As a first step within Whitehall, the Infrastructure and Projects Authority could play a role in agreeing these documents. Currently, the Authority already recommends that project leaders seek independent assessments of deliverability prior to committing to projects. Alternatively, Parliament could assess which statements provide useful insights to support scrutiny, and which do not. Dedicated staff within the House of Commons committee system (working for the Liaison Committee or Scrutiny Unit) could help make this judgement. Ultimately, the National Audit Office could use these assessments as evidence in its reviews of the Government's projects or programmes.
- Committees should use these documents to scrutinise the implementation of major projects and the work of officials and ministers. These documents would be particularly relevant for the PAC, which has made an offer to Government to undertake pre-implementation scrutiny. ¹⁶ More broadly, where foreseeable risks arise in the course of a project that were not identified in policy advice, officials should explain to Parliament why they were not brought up.

How would this make a difference?

This proposal would have several benefits. First, it would provide greater clarity about the rationale for going ahead with large projects. Second (and importantly), the requirement to publish these documents after a project has been agreed would increase the likelihood of relevant issues being raised with ministers before a decision is made. If ministers are personally expected to justify their decisions, even after leaving office, they would be encouraged to carefully weigh the risks associated with their proposed approach. Finally, this proposal would provide Parliament with a useful agenda for possible future scrutiny of project implementation, increasing the incentive for ministers to consider the longer-term consequences of their decisions. This would allow for better scrutiny of ministers and civil servants in light of the success or failure of a project.

Preventing repeated failures in the civil service

The civil service has a documented history of weakness in many basic functions, from finance and commercial insight to human resources. There are also examples of policies or projects going ahead apparently unchallenged, despite falling short of the standards set by the Treasury. Whitehall's conventions have resulted in gaps in accountability, which means that there has never been sufficient long-term focus from civil service leaders on resolving these two cross-cutting weaknesses.

Beyond their commitment to supporting individual ministers and departments, the leaders of the civil service exercise some collective responsibilities. These include ensuring that there is enough specialist capability in Whitehall to implement the Government's priorities, and that they are building this capability appropriately; and ensuring that specific aspects of accountability, such as the accounting officer system, operate effectively and safeguard value for money for taxpayers.

As things stand, failure occurs time and again in areas of collective responsibility. In the area of capability, weaknesses in using specialist skills have caused a string of delays and cost overruns in projects across the civil service, ever since the 1968 Fulton Report¹⁷ called for greater involvement from specialists in implementing policies. For example, in 2013, contractors G4S and Serco were found to have overbilled the Government for their services providing electronic monitoring of offenders. Officials did not notice the irregularity for eight years, by which point millions of taxpayers' money had been overspent.¹⁸

More recently, the PAC blamed poor planning and contracting at the Home Office for the £229m overrun and four-year delay in modernisation of the Disclosure and Barring Service, ¹⁹ the body which provides safeguarding information to employers looking to hire people to work with vulnerable individuals or children. The department was criticised for signing the contract for modernising the Disclosure and Barring Service without a clear understanding of what was needed to deliver it successfully. The department's approach to designing the contract was deemed flawed by the PAC: only 3% of payments to the contractor were directly related to completion of the modernisation programme.²⁰

There appears to be no effective planning process for ensuring that the civil service has the specialist capability available to deliver the Government's portfolio of priorities. The consequences of this omission are exacerbated by the civil service's overcommitment: the Chief Executive of the Civil Service, John Manzoni, noted in 2016 that that the civil service is "doing 30% too much to do it all well".²¹

With respect to safeguarding value for money, accounting officers – who play a key role in the proper management of their department's finances – have allowed some policies and projects to be implemented even when they fell short of Treasury standards for value for money and feasibility, among others. For example, the FiReControl project launched in 2004 was designed to reduce the number of control rooms required to handle calls to the Fire and Rescue Service. Yet the lack of buy-in from local forces, rising costs and unclear lines of accountability led the department to cancel the project in 2009, after £469m had been spent. The PAC later asked why officials at the Department for Communities and Local Government had not sought a ministerial direction* before proceeding with the project.²²

More recently, the National Audit Office's initial review of Universal Credit found that the Department for Work and Pensions could not explain how it originally decided on the initial timetable for implementing the programme, or how it had decided that the roll-out of Universal Credit was feasible.²³ In these cases and others, accounting officers did not publicly request a ministerial direction to proceed, in spite of warnings at the start of the project about the feasibility or value for money of what was proposed.*

^{*} If a course of action or policy proposed by a minister breaches the standards set out in Treasury guidance, the permanent secretary (as accounting officer) can register concerns with the value for money, feasibility, propriety or regularity of proposed spending. If these are not addressed by informal discussions, the accounting officer can ask the minister to issue him or her with a ministerial direction, meaning a formal instruction to proceed with delivering a policy.

Yet there is no forum for discussing the competing incentives* placed on permanent secretaries to speak truth to power.²⁴

Several weaknesses in accountability lie behind these recurring failures in both capability and protecting the use of public money. In both areas, decisions such as those described are often subject to a high degree of political scrutiny: civil servants regularly appear before Parliament. But scrutiny only allows one side (Parliament) to question and report on what has happened, and by itself, this does not constitute an effective system of accountability – it needs to be complemented by oversight within the civil service. This should involve direct performance reporting lines, where the consequences for success and failure are decided. Lack of effective oversight to accompany scrutiny is likely to result in a string of reports highlighting the same

failures, without triggering consequences for those involved, or generating sustained action to improve. This is exactly what we observe around the civil service.

In theory, persistent weaknesses in both these areas should be addressed by the Prime Minister who, as Minister for the Civil Service, oversees the management of the civil service. In practice,

Lack of effective oversight to accompany scrutiny is likely to result in a string of reports highlighting the same failures

no prime minister has the time to focus on this role, so it is usually delegated to the Minister for the Cabinet Office. However, successive prime ministers have failed to make serious appointments to this role. To be done well, it needs to be undertaken by a senior minister with the knowledge to oversee the civil service, the interest to make this a key part of their career, and the opportunity to remain in post for a period – say, three to five years – during which they could oversee sustained change.**

There are accountability gaps in both these areas. When it comes to specialist skills and capability, there is a lack of independent oversight of the plans that are now in place to improve specialist skills and capability in areas such as finance, commercial and human resources,²⁵ and whether permanent secretaries are really supporting these improvements. The planning process responsible for developing Single Departmental Plans could be used to drive a focus on skills and capability, but it is seen as a voluntary exercise. Some departments place it at the centre of their planning, while others largely ignore it.

Accountability gaps also affect the accounting officer system designed to safeguard public money. As discussed previously, there are many examples of projects that have gone ahead without accounting officers requesting a ministerial direction, despite

^{*} Permanent secretaries combine a number of different roles with different accountability lines. They are accountable to their minister for the majority of the roles that they fulfil in the department, including providing policy advice and implementing ministerial priorities. Conversely, they are directly accountable to the PAC in Parliament for ensuring that spending in their department meets the standards set by the Treasury. See Paun A and Harris J, Accountability at the Top, Institute for Government, 2013, p. 7, retrieved 30 August 2018, www.instituteforgovernment.org.uk/publications/accountability-top

^{**} Since 1997, there have been 17 ministers in this post: only one minister (Francis Maude) stayed in post long enough (five years) to see through reforms in this area. See Institute for Government, *Tenure of Ministers for the Cabinet Office*, 1997 to 2018, 2018, retrieved 14 August 2018, www.instituteforgovernment.org.uk/blog/cabinet-reshuffle-live-blog-january-2018

risks being flagged by external observers or Parliament.²⁶ Indeed, while criteria to request directions on the grounds of feasibility were introduced in 2011 by the Treasury, it was not until 2018 that a ministerial direction was requested for this reason.²⁷ Yet there is seemingly no internal oversight tasked with ensuring that civil service leaders consider whether the accounting officer system is operating effectively, so that projects which represent a higher degree of known risk to public money are prevented from going ahead. Conversely, there is no independent oversight of whether strategies to help civil servants raise difficult issues with ministers are being implemented successfully.

Fortunately, there has been a lot of progress in recent years in establishing clearer responsibilities for improvement across the civil service, both for capability and for overseeing specific areas such as the accounting officer system.

To improve specialist capability on a cross-departmental basis in areas such as commercial, project delivery and digital skills, the Government began to set up 'functions' in 2013 to provide expert advice and services across Whitehall and arm's-length bodies. We have welcomed the ongoing efforts of civil service leaders to develop specialist skills – efforts which have stepped up considerably over time. 28 These functions are headed by specific individuals with responsibility for these improvements, and who can be held to account for progress – a first in this area. With leadership and strategic direction from the centre and networks across departments, these functions aim to bolster decision making and, ultimately, enable better public services for citizens. As a result, permanent secretaries have had greater access to specialist advice, notably through the work of the Infrastructure and Projects Authority in strengthening assurance processes, and developing capability.

In departments, the heads of the policy profession bear some responsibility for quality of advice. The introduction of non-executives into departmental boards has brought in independent professionals with experience of running large and complex organisations in different sectors. In some cases, this has greatly improved the level of advice available to permanent secretaries.²⁹

Finally, the collective leadership of the civil service has been strengthened. Most importantly, the Cabinet Secretary, Chief Executive of the Civil Service and key permanent secretaries meet regularly to discuss the running of the civil service. This Civil Service Board effectively provides an executive committee to deal with some of the capability and prioritisation concerns.* This is a building block for future improvements, as suggested in our recommendations below.

Recommendations

The next step should be to create independent oversight to address recurring failure in capability, and to help ensure that the accounting officer system works effectively to protect public funds.

^{*} The Institute for Government's report *Professionalising Whitehall* (2017) calls for better representation of central heads of specialisms on the Civil Service Board. Other federated organisations in the wider public sector and private sector seek greater strategic input from specialists at the top table.

Government should set up an independent, permanent board to oversee the civil service leadership. In the absence of a committed minister, a board would ensure, through independent challenge and expertise, that the civil service has the right skills to deliver the Government's priorities, that the Government's overall portfolio of work is deliverable, and that the accounting officer system for advising and challenging ministers operates effectively.

We recommend the following.

- Appoint a committed Minister for the Civil Service. Having an experienced, able, persistent and long-standing Minister for the Civil Service would be the right formal structure for ensuring that the civil service faces up to the challenges highlighted previously. This would provide clear leadership, and help sponsor senior civil servants' efforts at ministerial level. However, churn in this post, and the varying interest of politicians in civil service oversight and reform, make this option less likely to materialise.³⁰
- Set up a civil service oversight board. Given this political reality, the most obvious solution would be to establish a board structure with independent membership to address these strategic issues. It could have a non-executive chair appointed by the Prime Minister, and be composed of executives of the civil service with cross-departmental responsibilities (Cabinet Secretary, Chief Executive of the Civil Service, Permanent Secretary of the Treasury with responsibility for finance, and the permanent secretaries responsible for policy and operational delivery), as well as a majority of non-executives. This should include experienced departmental non-executives, and perhaps former ministers no longer involved in front-line politics. This would ensure that these non-executives have combined experience of running large and complex organisations and knowledge of how Whitehall operates. We suggest options for its remit below; details on how this board would operate should be the subject of further discussion.

This proposal is in line with those made by others. For example, GovernUp's 2015 report on the structure and management of Whitehall concluded that some form of board structure was the most sensible solution to tackle the type of issues discussed here.³¹

How would this make a difference?

At present, there are gaps in the accountability of the civil service leadership for improving capability and protecting public money. An independent point of oversight could challenge and usefully support civil service leaders. In particular, boards featuring independent members are widely used in the public, private and voluntary sectors to hold executives to account, and to bring in expert, independent challenge. Such a board could enable greater continuity to embed long-term improvements in building specialist capability (such as the functional agenda), and prevent reform efforts from losing momentum when an individual driving change moves on – as has been the case in the past.³²

A board would provide a forum for strategic discussion, for example:

- whether there is sufficient specialist capability in the civil service to deliver the Government's priorities
- whether these skills are being developed appropriately
- how to strengthen the accounting officer system.

Moreover, a board could serve as a forum for discussing, deciding and overseeing how accounting officer responsibilities should intersect with the cross-departmental initiatives undertaken by functions. It could provide a forum for a selection of permanent secretaries to provide feedback to functional leaders on the services that they are providing to departments, and more widely to ensure that plans to build specialist skills across departments are on track.

As was the case when independent non-executives were introduced into departmental boards, it is likely that civil service leaders will rapidly come to see the value of such arrangements in providing experienced advice and support within private discussion. The challenge from an internal board would complement the inevitably more confrontational environment that senior civil servants face when scrutinised by Parliament.

3. Making accountability work in a complex public sector

Accountability arrangements have not kept pace with changes in public services – including the role of public bodies and private contractors in delivering them. Our recommendations aim to strengthen public service performance, and to ensure that local services work together to serve the public better.

The principles that govern accountability were developed in the late 19th century, and have not kept pace with the increasing complexity of modern government. Over the last 30 years, under the influence of new public management (a model of public sector governance emphasising efficient delivery of services), many organisations have become involved in delivering public services. This includes arm's-length bodies and private and voluntary sector providers. Combined with some local devolution of power, this has resulted in a fragmented approach to delivering public services to citizens.

This has made it difficult to assess how the decisions of different organisations are affecting overall government objectives, and whether the services they deliver collectively perform well. There is increasingly little relation between the funding allocated by the Treasury, and the commitments made by ministers about the quality and scope of public services. Consequently, vast overlaps exist in responsibility for public service performance: for example, whether or not hospitals, schools and prisons are doing well. Those involved can pass the buck, rather than discharge their responsibilities. We recommend a way for government to base its spending decisions on a realistic assessment of what public services can deliver – which can be used to hold all the different parties to account.

A further problem is that governments have made changes too frequently to the way that major public services, such as hospitals and schools, are run. These frequent policy changes can weaken accountability, which is often an afterthought. In some cases this has led to accountability arrangements that simply do not work, failing to protect the public and sometimes causing great harm to individuals (as mentioned previously). We recommend that accountability arrangements for major public services should be routinely examined, to provide assurances that they actually work.

The public relies on government for a wide range of services, many of which are delivered locally. The disjointed nature of public services is particularly acute in some sectors. For example, health and social care need to be delivered to individual citizens in a joined-up way, in spite of having entirely different accountabilities: the former to the Department of Health (in England), and the latter to local authorities. More broadly, certain public service operations can create pressure in others: for example, the benefit system's knock-on effects on homelessness. At present, there is no systematic

way of holding public service leaders to account for these links between services, which really matter for the public.

To resolve this, we propose ways to understand better how public services interact, and better means for focusing public service leaders on the importance of improving the links between their services.

Clarifying what public services citizens get for their money

The tight spending envelopes handed to public services in 2015 – including hospitals and prisons – have proved insufficient to deliver the Government's aims. Government's spending decisions tend to focus on the short term, and are not scrutinised enough. Ultimately, this leads to a mismatch between the quality of service promised by leaders, and the actual performance that the public experiences.

A well-functioning state requires public services that are funded appropriately and run effectively to the benefit of citizens. There is no single responsibility for this. Ministers and local political leaders (for example, any local councils deciding on the means-testing of social care provision) are responsible for deciding policy about what services should be provided to the public. HM Treasury decides on spending allocations with departments, to ensure that funding matches those policies. Finally, public service leaders across the country – from local police chiefs to chief executives of NHS trusts – ensure that their public organisations deliver services and good performance.

These overlapping responsibilities can cause problems, including public services that are not funded well enough to serve the public effectively. This is caused by the frequent failure to consider adequately the relationship between spending and performance. The Treasury has strong incentives to control spending, but much weaker ones to focus on the level of service delivered.^{3,4} There is also the danger of optimism bias, which is a particular risk within the spending review process, and results from challenging financial constraints and the highly politicised nature of the process. These issues make it difficult to strike the right balance between funding and the scale and quality of services promised by ministers.⁵ This is particularly alarming, given the significant pressures on many public sector organisations and public services.

- Prisons are a telling example. Prison spending fell by 21% in real terms between between 2009/10 and 2015/16. It has since risen, but still remains 16% below 2009/10 levels. This led to a sharp decline in the number of prison officers. This, along with the increasing prevalence of psychoactive substances, undermined prison staff's ability to manage prisons safely (whether preventing suicides or assaults on staff). In 2017/18, there were three times as many assaults on prison staff than there were in 2009/10, which includes a 26% increase in the last year alone.⁶
- In the NHS, the Government has found itself locked into a cycle within which it keeps funding hospitals' deficits.^{7,8} Although spending and staffing levels have gone up, so has demand, which has resulted in patients waiting longer for essential services. For example, the number of emergencies being treated within the four-hour target fell by 8% between June 2009 and June 2017.⁹ Similarly: "the

target that 92% of people should begin treatment for non-urgent conditions within 18 weeks of referral was first breached in December 2015 (91.8%). As of July 2017 it was 89.9%. The recorded waiting list [for such non-urgent conditions] increased by over 60% between July 2009 and 2017, from 2.5m to 3.9m (the highest the waiting list has been in a decade)".¹⁰

Inevitably, political motives drive spending decisions. Spending reviews operate as a series of bilateral discussions between the Treasury and individual departments. This discourages joint working to solve complex issues spanning different departments. ¹¹ This can easily lead to

Inevitably, political motives drive spending decisions

gaming, pushing ministers to 'do a deal' with the Treasury by agreeing numbers early, sometimes causing increased costs in other departments ('cost-shunting').¹² The process is also plagued by short-term calculations. As mentioned previously, it suffers from excessive optimism: governments of all stripes "assume the best possible outcomes, understating risks and assuming everything will work exactly as planned, while plugging any gaps between demand and resources with often heroic efficiency assumptions".¹³

Current structures and systems provide too little independent assurance, challenge and scrutiny about the link between the funding allocated, how well services perform, and how sustainably they can run. 14 Parliamentary scrutiny and control is weak, with MPs complaining about the lack of time to debate the Government's spending plans, which are often impenetrable. 15

In several areas of government, this lack of scrutiny has resulted in a discrepancy (or spending gap) between ministerial ambitions for the performance of certain services, and what is possible with the resources available. The last spending review often provided too little funding to match ministerial pledges. This combined failure by the Treasury and ministers left public service leaders making increasingly difficult decisions on top of the efficiencies they had already achieved. For example, the NHS had to raid funds for long-term improvements to keep day-to-day services running. The service is a scruting to the service for the provided in a discrepancy (or spending services) and the service is a scruting to the service for the performance of certain services, and what is possible with the resources available. The last spending review often provided too little funding to match ministerial pledges. This combined failure by the treatment of the performance of certain services, and what is possible with the resources available. The last spending review often provided too little funding to match ministerial pledges. This combined failure by the treatment of the provided too little funding to match ministerial pledges. This combined failure by the treatment of the provided too little funding to match ministerial pledges.

There are existing approaches and mechanisms to assess how sustainably public services are funded. Prior to its abolition in 2010, the Audit Commission used to provide systematic information on the relative performance of services and their overall financial sustainability. The National Audit Office now undertakes some studies on the financial sustainability of specific services such as the NHS, schools sector, police forces and local government. However, as an external, independent audit body, it does not have a role in providing assurances about the robustness of financial and performance planning before decisions are made; neither can it challenge ministers and the Treasury in regard to policy decisions – especially the vital ones inherent in spending reviews.

The independent Office for Budget Responsibility (OBR) does have such a role, but only in relation to taxation and benefit spending. It has played an important part in public debate by forcing the Government to face up to the fiscal situation – providing transparent, authoritative information that feeds into government's budget processes.

But the OBR only examines taxation and certain forms of spending – particularly benefit spending. For the bulk of spending on public services, the OBR simply accepts the level set by the Treasury. It does not look at the commitments made by ministers, or whether the level of spending can deliver them.

To improve accountability, these mechanisms need to be built on, as we set out in our recommendations below.

Recommendations

Government and Parliament should ensure that transparent, authoritative information underpins the spending review process. This would enable those involved in making spending decisions to examine the relationships between spending and performance, improving the quality of decision making and clarifying accountability when government is unable to meet its targets. To enable this:

- Departments should publish statements at the end of the spending review process, setting out any changes which have been made to planned spending, and how these are going to be achieved practically (policy changes, service standards, efficiency and transformation). These statements should be developed and used during the government's internal spending review process to "anchor" negotiations. These statements could provide an improved basis for Commons committee scrutiny.¹⁸
- There should be improved independent scrutiny to check the quality of the financial and performance models used to produce these departmental statements. As argued in the Institute's recent report on the spending review, this scrutiny should examine whether the financial models used to produce the statements are sound; whether the Treasury and departmental teams "have followed a sensible and rigorous process in putting together their models; that any key assumptions are evidenced, and consistent across Whitehall; and that the Treasury and departments have an understanding of the practical means by which spending will lead to the intended level of performance and outcomes". 19
- The National Audit Office could be invited to comment on departments' statements for the next spending review expected in 2019, as argued in the Institute's recent report. 20 This could serve as an initial practical step, given the lack of time to set up a new mechanism before the spending review. In the longer term, the focus should be on continuing to "strengthen financial and performance planning through the skills of Treasury staff, agreement between the Treasury and departments on how to measure and pursue performance, and more independent scrutiny to strengthen financial and performance planning". 21
- The information created by this independent scrutiny should be used by all those holding to account the different actors with overlapping responsibilities for how public services are run including the Treasury, ministers and leaders of public sector organisations. In particular, it could provide the basis for the parliamentary scrutiny of spending decisions. Parliament has long lamented the "generally poor scrutiny by Parliament of Government expenditure before the event". In 2011, Edward Leigh and John Pugh recommended a new House of Commons committee to

scrutinise the Government's expenditure plans. This committee would report back to Parliament on whether the Government's plans are feasible, and on the capability of spending departments.²³ The House of Commons Procedure Committee is currently exploring options for Parliament to be more involved in scrutinising government spending plans.²⁴

Others have called for similar measures to improve public service performance, and to ensure that services are funded sustainably. In 2013, the Fabian Society recommended the creation of an Office for Public Performance: a non-departmental public body modelled on the OBR to provide independent and evidence-based analysis of public service performance, focusing on what spending decisions are intended to achieve, not only their cost.²⁵

How would this make a difference?

The proposals on improved scrutiny outlined above would allow decisions to be based more clearly on evidence. They would push the Treasury to justify how spending limits match ministers' policy commitments, and avoid the apparently arbitrary nature of some spending decisions by making their rationale more transparent. Independent scrutiny of spending plans would discourage departments from operating with the optimism bias that frequently occurs within the spending review process, and would push service providers to justify any failure to achieve realistic efficiencies. It also would ensure that departments continuously improve their financial models, and the data underpinning them, to improve decision making.

Ensuring that accountability across public services works in practice

There are many examples where accountability arrangements should have protected the public, but failed. These are not isolated incidents, but a pattern that seems endemic across government – whether failing academy schools endangering children's education, the deaths of patients in places such as Gosport, or the catastrophic failure of building and fire regulations that led to hundreds of unsafe high-rise buildings. We need a proactive way to ensure that accountability arrangements actually work before problems occur, rather than just trying to patch things up after they have failed.

Ministers have ultimate responsibility for policy, including responsibility for making sure that every policy area has accountability arrangements that work in practice. Of course, specific accountability arrangements vary between policy areas. In general they will include effective provisions for oversight, regulation, inspection and scrutiny. For example, NHS foundation trusts are statutory bodies with independent powers established by legislation. Trust boards oversee them, while arm's-length bodies including NHS Improvement and the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) have roles in inspection and regulation. When there are problems, patients can make complaints through the Parliamentary and Health Services Ombudsman.

Ministers' ultimate responsibility is particularly crucial in situations where failure can cause harm to people's lives and livelihoods. Yet history demonstrates that ministers have routinely implemented new policies which lack accountability arrangements; while at other times they have weakened or removed aspects of existing arrangements, including individuals' ability to appeal decisions and seek redress.

Failure arises when new policies lack accountability arrangements from the start, such as with academy schools. Previously, schools had mainly been funded by, and were accountable to, local government. But after 2010, many schools were converted into academies, gaining more autonomy from local government in the process. These schools received direct funding from the Government and were accountable to the Secretary of State for Education. This created significant, and predictable, accountability issues. National government has no mechanisms for properly overseeing what is happening in thousands of schools spread throughout the country. This has led to well-publicised problems, such as the collapse of Wakefield City Academies Trust, and the misuse of school resources at Durand Academy. Similarly, there have been concerns about the governance arrangements for local enterprise partnerships (LEPs), as demonstrated by the National Audit Office's investigation into the Greater Cambridge Greater Peterborough LEP, which raised concerns about lack of oversight and insufficient transparency.

In other cases, accountability arrangements are weakened or removed over time – sometimes deliberately, but at other times due to a gradual, unchecked drift in policies and practice across government. Changes to building regulation and fire safety rules over a course of years led to dozens of buildings being fitted with dangerous cladding, including Grenfell Tower in West London.³³ In 2018, the Hackitt Review deemed that the resulting system of building regulation was "not fit for purpose".³⁴ In Gosport, the failure of a succession of accountability arrangements resulted in hundreds of preventable deaths at Gosport War Memorial Hospital.³⁵ The families of the victims spent decades fighting for justice.

A lack of accountability arrangements in some areas means that sometimes, the opportunity to correct failure at early stages is missed, leaving issues to grow into scandals. This in turn generates a political crisis that eventually has to be addressed

Currently, there is no systematic way to assess whether a new policy has effective accountability arrangements

through high-profile means, such as a parliamentary inquiry. The tendency to allow problems in policies and services to reach the point of crisis – in hospitals or prisons,³⁶ and more widely in other areas – reflects poorly on government's ability to manage the complexity of the public sector. It also contributes to a 'high-stakes' form of accountability, where a culture of blame dominates. This undermines people's incentives to be open about failure, and to try to learn from it.

Currently, there is no systematic way to assess whether a new policy has effective accountability arrangements. This means that there is no straightforward way to hold ministers accountable for the performance of these arrangements. As mentioned previously, this problem is complicated by the convention that ministerial responsibility is bound to the office of minister, not the individual who made any particular decision. While ministerial tenures are typically around one to three years,

the life cycle of accountability arrangements is far longer,* so the consequences of poor arrangements almost certainly come to light only after an individual has left office. This reduces the incentives for ministers to consider long-term accountability arrangements when designing or modifying policies. As a result, when failure occurs, current ministers are often left having to explain decisions made by their predecessors and taking the blame for their mistakes.

Some progress has been made in recent years. Departments now publish some descriptions of their accountability arrangements in accounting officer system statements – a proposal made by the PAC and subsequently adopted by the Government. 37,38,39 System statements are documents prepared by departmental accounting officers which outline their understanding of accountability relationships at all levels of the department. System statements are a welcome development which can be built on to continue improving accountability arrangements. In the future, reviews of accountability arrangements could go beyond the accounting officer's personal responsibility for spending, and might consider accountability gaps that lead not only to wasted public funds, but also harm to the public. We propose to further build on this, as our recommendations below set out.

Recommendations

There should be a systematic way to assess the effectiveness of accountability arrangements for policy. This would make it easier to ensure that working accountability arrangements are in place across policy areas.

- The Treasury should develop its criteria further for assessing the quality of accounting officer system statements. It should improve its guidance by expanding and updating the criteria used to assess whether there are effective accountability arrangements for managing public money. The criteria should focus on the risks relating to public spending, building on existing guidance such as the Orange Book on managing risk in government. These criteria could detail how departments should consider which types of accountability arrangements such as stronger scrutiny, or inspection functions need to be implemented to fill any gaps that might exist. The revised guidance also should encourage departments to ensure routinely that these arrangements work as intended in practice, and to set out who is accountable for testing them. Ultimately, the system statements should link clearly to the Single Departmental Plans.
- Departments should routinely review the accountability arrangements for all their policy areas. Accounting officers are directly accountable to Parliament for the use of public money within their department. However, there are wider accountabilities which fall beyond the remit of financial management. These should be routinely reviewed to ensure that they work in practice, and that there are no accountability gaps which might lead to harm to individuals. This includes accountability for areas such as building control and fire regulation, especially when decisions are made at a ministerial level over time to change regulations,

^{*} Between 1997 and 2015 the average ministerial tenure was two years, two months for secretaries of state, and one year eight months for junior ministers. Source: Freeguard G, Andrews E, Devine D, Munro R and Randall J, Whitehall Monitor 2015, Institute for Government, 2015, p. 26. www.instituteforgovernment.org.uk/publications/whitehall-monitor-2015

sometimes creating gaps. These reviews should involve the leaders of the organisations involved in delivering front-line services (such as arm's-length bodies and other public sector organisations). The findings from such reviews should be published and signed off by the responsible minister.

How would this make a difference?

We want officials and ministers in Whitehall to think about accountability as they develop policies. These changes would encourage government departments and agencies to focus on the effectiveness of their accountability arrangements, helping to ensure that policies work as intended. By formalising the processes for designing, implementing and reviewing accountability arrangements, there would be a greater focus on accountability for policies.

While ministers have always held a responsibility to do this, whether or not they have actually discharged it has not been appropriately scrutinised. Our recommendations would see that they take this part of their role more seriously. Moreover, these proposals should help officials and ministers to understand how to design accountability arrangements that are fit for the complexity of modern government. A process of routine review, backed up by criteria from the Treasury, will force them to confront the issue of robust accountability on a routine and substantial basis. In time, Parliament could recall former ministers to account, notably where a lack of routine review on their watch meant that accountability arrangements became ineffective over time.

Strengthening scrutiny of the links between local public services

The effectiveness of local public services matters, and shapes public attitudes towards government more broadly. However, the performance of certain public services can be influenced by factors outside their control (for example, cuts in social care leading to higher costs to the health system). Public services need to be more joined-up at a local level, to serve the public better. This would involve a greater understanding of how decisions made in one service can affect another.

The public relies on a wide range of government services. Often, these have to work together at a local level^{40,41} – for example, when people are moving from hospital into social care, or in supporting children with emotional problems where schools, children's services, mental health services and potentially the police may be involved.

Different public service leaders are responsible for each of these services, including how their own service links to others to support the public. Obviously, these responsibilities overlap: both a hospital trust chief executive and a local authority chief executive have responsibility for making sure that the link between local hospitals and provision of social care works properly, albeit each with responsibility for making their own side of this link work.

Accountability for many factors which affect the quality of public services, such as how well they are run and whether they have adequate resources, is well-established. Responsibility for quality of leadership and the provision of resources runs up through familiar chains of oversight, ultimately to an elected individual such as a metro mayor or minister. However, accountability for the influence that different public services

have on each other is less well understood, and requires an understanding of the wider responsibilities held across a system of services. The connections between public services mean that changes in one service can lead to poor performance, or outright failure, in another. Examples include:

- Delayed transfers of care, when a clinically fit individual cannot be discharged from a hospital due to lack of capacity in local social care services. These delays are not conducive to good outcomes for patients, and are increasingly expensive, costing the NHS more than £820m a year.⁴² They also stretch the NHS's ability to treat other patients, as beds and other services are taken up with providing non-clinical care.
- The underperformance of health and social care services particularly for issues such as mental health and drug or alcohol addiction, which create additional burdens for local police services. 43,44
- An established link between increases in school exclusions and rising rates of crime.^{45,46,47} In this case, local police services are placed under additional pressure due to the failure of school systems to manage students.
- A growing understanding of the relationship between welfare reform, housing benefit and rough sleeping. 48 Delays to housing benefit and other issues with the welfare system may have made people homeless, placing new pressure on a range of services, including local government rough sleeping units, the NHS, police and social care.

In addition to these well-known interactions, there is an ongoing risk that the complexity of government produces new, often unanticipated harms. In these cases, the leaders of a service which comes under pressure may not understand what is driving the change. It may not be obvious whether the failure is due to poor performance on the part of the service itself, or external factors arising from other public services.

Here, overlaps between services are unknown and can be hard to identify, even where there is some clarity on how each individual public service works. These overlaps create gaps in accountability, where the performance of a service is influenced by factors outside the control of the individual responsible for them.

In all these cases, the real performance of a public service is adversely affected by another. For these services, the change in performance is not related to the intrinsic quality of its own management and resources.

The leaders who are responsible for these services may understand how their service operation affects others – such as with delayed hospital transfers and social care. In these cases there is a shared responsibility for the welfare of the individual members of the public stuck between services. Better ways are needed to track the performance of these links at the local level, then a way to use this information to help local service leaders to work together better.

To resolve the unknown, emergent problems which can follow policy changes, we need to further develop our understanding of how services interact. Earlier in this report we discussed the importance of government understanding how responsibilities for services cascade through different organisations, and how this provides clarity about responsibility. However, this is not enough on its own to help fix the current issues arising from the links between public services. Government needs to learn how services create pressure on each other, to help prevent future problems. We need better ways to scrutinise how links between local public services have an impact on their performance. This should build on existing capacity in local and mayoral combined authorities, where there is a good understanding of the local factors that may influence performance. The metro mayors are well positioned to use their position to convene groups of local leaders who oversee different services.

There are existing approaches that enable leaders and scrutineers to develop an understanding of how services relate to one another. The National Audit Office has started to examine the interdependencies between services in health and social

the Government needs local capacity to track the links between different local public services

care,⁴⁹ and has set out principles that departments should take an integrated view across departmental silos – notably, to understand the links between services better.⁵⁰ Local governments also have developed joined-up approaches to tackling issues across services.⁵¹ These need to be built on, as proposed in our recommendations below.

Recommendations

To improve performance, the Government needs local capacity to track the links between different local public services, and how these affect different services' performance. This could take the form of forums bringing local leaders together beyond internal council mechanisms – this would involve scrutinising the work of local leaders, helping them to understand how their responsibilities interact and overlap, and how changes in the performance of the services that they lead can affect other public services. This model could be initially trialled and developed within mayoral combined authorities. To achieve this:

• Government should review the case for setting up local PACs, which could help scrutinise the links between local public services. These committees, proposed by the Centre for Public Scrutiny, 52 would provide new capacity to local government to scrutinise performance across the breadth of services offered in a region. Initially, these should be trialled within mayoral combined authorities. This would enable local leaders to take a system-based approach to performance, rather than examining individual services in isolation. Local PACs would enable greater clarity on the intersection between the responsibilities of individual bodies and others, particularly where the performance of a service can hamper the work of other service leaders. In addition, they would enable leaders to gain a better appreciation of the complex interactions between public services, and equip them to mitigate negative externalities that their service might create for another, helping to prevent more serious problems later.

- We need local capacity to track the links between different local public services, and to examine how these relationships influence the performance of services. This could take the form of new performance assessment units aggregating data independently on the performance of different public services, in order to examine the links between them, and paying special attention to cases where one creates external pressure on another. These would be a natural fit for the metro mayor model, which already oversees a whole economic area, and could be trialled there in the first instance. These units could provide local executives with a better understanding of how local public service leaders are performing. The information developed could be used to support local PACs in a similar way to how the National Audit Office supports PAC.
- Local leaders should use the information generated by the proposed
 performance assessment units to develop a shared understanding of
 responsibilities for public services. The proposed units should share information
 as part of a network. This would make it possible to identify trends in how public
 services interact, accounting for local and national factors. Sharing information
 would help inform local public service leaders across the UK about the shared
 challenges affecting the performance of public services.

How would this make a difference?

As we have argued elsewhere, the fact that a system is complex does not absolve individuals of their responsibilities. These proposals serve two fundamental aspects of accountability. The assessment units would provide more information about local public services, which in turn would enable better scrutiny by local PACs. By creating clarity around who is responsible, those in power would be better equipped to understand their roles and obligations, so that they can keep sight of issues that may become problematic. Then when failures do arise, the scrutiny models we suggest offer clearer accountability by establishing a better link between what has happened, and who is responsible.

4. Creating a culture of improvement

Good accountability creates an environment where lessons can be learned. Yet the UK's current system of accountability focuses on blame to the point where it may impede improvement. Our recommendations aim to both strengthen accountability and enable those in government to learn from mistakes and make improvements.

Blame has been an inherent part of the UK system of accountability, and a powerful motivator for those in power. It can encourage ministers and officials to focus on outcomes, although there is scope for them to do this even more vigorously. However, focusing on blame can discourage desirable risk-taking, hamper innovation and encourage box-ticking.

There are different reasons why political accountability in the UK is inclined to focus on blame. They include the adversarial nature of Parliament, but also the media's tendency to highlight government failure. These factors are compounded by the structure of government which, as set out in our earlier discussion paper, creates a hierarchy that places almost all responsibility on the shoulders of a small number of individuals. As mentioned previously, these factors combine to create a high-stakes environment and cycles of negative feedback. The resulting culture of blame sometimes leads to high-profile dismissals that are costly in terms of public image for the individuals concerned, but often achieve little in terms of solving the underlying issues.

Response to failure cannot simply be a search for someone to blame. Often, members of the public who have suffered harm as a result of a public service failure are motivated by demands for justice, but they also want to understand what went wrong, and want to see a commitment to change so that it does not occur again.^{2,3} This also means that the organisations that investigate failure and scrutinise the work of public bodies on behalf of the public need to focus on learning from what went wrong.

On this basis, some sectors dealing with high-stakes life or death situations⁴ such as health care, aviation and nuclear safety have developed a different approach to accountability: the 'just culture'. It is premised on the notion that people are fallible, and aims to "balance learning from incidents with accountability for their consequences". The approach seeks to avoid rushing to judgement and blame. For example, the Healthcare Safety Investigation Branch's ambition is to "improve safety through effective and independent investigations that don't apportion blame or liability".

In practice, the 'just culture' enables a finer understanding of accountability through a "commitment to learning from mistakes [which] also allows for people and

organisations to be held to account for reckless behaviour that causes harm". It aims to look beyond the actions of single individuals to wider teams, organisations and systems in order to learn from an incident, while still holding people to account for undesirable performance. It does not offer a free pass to reckless behaviour, neither does it leave scope to 'blame the system'.

In the context of government accountability, a 'just culture' approach could mean investigating issues sooner, and from a position of open enquiry. The work of government is frequently complex, and failure occurs despite the best of intentions. Accounting for this is made harder by inherent gaps in the system, which limit the amount of information available to decision makers, and often make it unclear who is responsible. A 'just culture' of accountability should acknowledge these challenges, and encourage the reporting of incidents or errors so as to work through the mistakes with those involved and learn from failure. Ultimately, this could lead to a 'positive error culture', where learning can be shared with others to improve practice – notably when there are mechanisms or communities of practitioners in place to enable this.⁸

However, as we have discussed, there are times where ministers and officials have made decisions in the likely knowledge that public funds may be wasted, or that harm might occur to parts of the population. Here, an approach to accountability based on the 'just culture' could help to better discern between genuine error and unjustified, and sometimes reckless, risk-taking. For example in 2003, in the face of warnings and opposition, notably from the then Mayor of London,

Ken Livingstone, the then Chancellor Gordon Brown championed three complex public–private partnership contracts to upgrade London's underground rail network. Even though serious financial and operational problems emerged, as foretold, the Chancellor was not asked to justify why he persisted with this approach.⁹

Parliament plays a fundamental role in holding the Government to account

As noted in our April 2018 discussion paper, "new cultures can only be built over the long term, mainly through tangible changes to structures and processes". Delow we outline problems that stem from the existing approach to accountability and provide recommendations which, in conjunction with those presented above, might go some way towards further transforming the UK's culture of accountability.

The culture of blame operates at its best in the context of high-stakes political crises, from Windrush to probation reform. When a problem occurs, scrutiny focuses on attributing blame, often after harm has occurred. Our first recommendation is intended to enable earlier interventions and scrutiny, notably by involving ombudsmen, so that learning can take place and issues be investigated before they escalate to a point where 'heads must roll'.

In addition, Parliament plays a fundamental role in holding the Government to account. However, sometimes this scrutiny can be confrontational in nature, with committees' persistent questioning leading to defensiveness from witnesses. Our proposals aim to support committees in getting to the heart of the issues that they are tasked to examine by using the information generated by our other recommendations. In the

longer term, this might help create an environment where more candid, informed discussions can happen with those being held to account.

Getting better information earlier, to enable improvement

Government failings rarely receive timely scrutiny. Too often scrutiny comes when a crisis has arisen, long after the public has suffered harm, and the opportunity for a constructive dialogue about the issues has disappeared. These delays in accountability also considerably heighten the stakes for solving underlying issues, which encourages blame and inhibits learning. We propose stronger systems to track and investigate failings earlier, to support more effective scrutiny.

The complexity of modern government leaves greater scope for things to go wrong. Yet our current system of accountability often holds off on meaningful scrutiny of issues or failure until the point of political crisis.



Too frequently, accountability delayed is accountability denied. It not only results in harm to individuals, but also harms government itself, if public trust decreases as a result. This raises the stakes of failure. We need earlier interventions that take place before the scale of

harm grows. This would make it easier to apply a 'just culture' approach to learn where responsibilities have not been fulfilled, where accountability lies and, most importantly, what improvements should be made to prevent future failures of a similar nature.

Currently, there are well-established, top-down systems that routinely track the performance of public services. Organisations such as the quality regulators gather information about issues and failure. For example in education, Ofsted inspects schools and provides information on their performance. Such organisations offer a way to examine common, well-understood issues within a system, although they do not deal with accountability when things go wrong.

However, we need a stronger, bottom-up system which can investigate failings earlier. This system would complement the routine top-down inspections, but would support a culture of learning and improvement by getting to the issues proactively and directly. This would help us to catch novel or poorly understood problems which can arise due to the inherent complexity of how policies are implemented, and public services are delivered. This also includes issues which fall outside the scope of routine top-down inspection. Additionally, even known issues become less well understood as the distance increases between the individuals responsible for a policy or service, and those affected by its failure. Improving our bottom-up systems for investigating issues could help improve accountability and learning by intervening earlier, and closer to the source of the failure. Recent examples of issues where early warnings were missed or ignored include the following:

• The negative impacts of the Home Office's "hostile environment" policy on children of the Windrush Generation were picked up by caseworkers and community groups years before the story received media coverage. ¹¹ Even then, it was months more

before Parliament took interest in the issue and forced the Home Office to review the policy, and the Government to open up avenues for redress to those who had been affected.

• Failures at the Mid Staffordshire NHS Trust, as investigated by the Francis Inquiry, caused extensive harm to members of the public. The inquiry report noted how the Trust's board "did not listen sufficiently to its patients or its staff or ensure the correction of deficiencies brought to the Trust's attention".¹²

Some existing mechanisms play a role in feeding information in a bottom-up way. The nine existing ombudsman services serve as a backstop for these types of problem. They gather information about public service delivery in a bottom-up way, and government policies more broadly. Their role is to investigate specific complaints about faults made by government. These organisations receive specific concerns and complaints about public services directly from members of the public. Individuals can only appeal to an ombudsman once they have exhausted their options directly with the service provider's complaints process.

However, there are limits on the effectiveness of ombudsman investigations. In some instances there is no appropriate body responsible for handling complaints of a particular nature; and even where such a body exists, often they are constrained by rules which dictate when and how they can conduct an investigation. This limits their ability to look at systemic problems that cut across multiple policy areas. It also slows down the investigatory process, making it harder to pre-empt further failures. These mechanisms need to be built on to improve accountability, as discussed in our recommendations below.

Recommendations

There are ways to address and improve how government tracks issues and investigates the harm done to individuals as a result of its policies. It is possible to devise a form of accountability for these failings that promotes learning when things go wrong, and delivers improvement as a result.

One step is to consolidate the existing investigative services, in particular the ombudsman services, so that they can share their expertise and examine issues in a more systemic way. This would support our earlier recommendation to examine the links between public services. These investigative services also need better powers to investigate and understand failures earlier. This would help embed 'just culture' ideals by ensuring that accountability is delivered in a less charged environment. To achieve this:

Government should introduce the Draft Public Services Ombudsman Bill. This
would combine the Parliamentary and Health Services Ombudsman with the Local
Government Ombudsman to create a new, more powerful Public Services
Ombudsman which can handle complaints across the full range of public services.¹³
This would equip ombudsman services to deal better with the growing complexity
of public service delivery where multiple organisations are involved. A newly
empowered Public Services Ombudsman would provide an active source of enquiry

and analysis, which would help to direct the attention of select committees in a similar fashion to how the National Audit Office supports the work of the PAC.

• Government should grant 'own motion' powers to the ombudsman services, so they can investigate issues sooner. All ombudsman services, including the proposed Public Services Ombudsman, should gain 'own motion' powers common to other regulators. These new powers would allow them to investigate problems that they have identified – where there is evidence of significant or repeated failure – on their own initiative, without the need for complaint from an individual.* This will enable them to examine issues earlier, to resolve them before they become crises, and to ensure remedy for those affected as well as encouraging learning and improvement. Others, including the former Public Administration Select Committee and the Gordon Report, have suggested that such powers are "standard for most ombudsmen outside the UK, and [have] proved useful in bringing systemic improvements in public services". 14

How would this make a difference?

The culture of blame is linked to a system of accountability that is too slow, and allows issues to fester into crises. Our proposals maximise accountability for earlier learning and improvement. They would help the system of public services to pre-empt major failings, and support those investigating failure to get to grips better with the complexity of modern public service delivery.

By getting to issues earlier, and by adopting a 'just culture' approach which promotes learning about the causes of failure, our recommendations would help the responsible public service leaders prevent future issues. Finally, the information generated by ombudsman investigations could be used to support scrutiny from parliamentary select committees, serving as additional, potential sources of evidence.

Parliamentary scrutiny that promotes learning and improvement

Committees have grown increasingly confident and made strides in improving their scrutiny of government. However, inquiries are normally retrospective, and committees have little capacity to track issues over time. Helping committees to obtain the right information early can enable in-depth, informed scrutiny before issues become crises. More persistent scrutiny also would ensure that government makes the necessary changes to prevent failure from reoccurring.

Parliament exists to hold government to account on behalf of the public. There is no other forum with comparable power to ask the most senior and powerful individuals challenging questions. Parliamentary select committees provide the ultimate form of scrutiny of the Government's work. However, opportunities to use this platform to

^{*} When public services fail individual citizens, the first step towards redress is an agency's complaints mechanism. Failing that, complaints can be referred to ombudsmen by an MP: this is known as the 'MP filter'. Some ombudsmen services such as the Health Service, Local Government or Housing Ombudsman do not require such a referral. In the context of the proposed Public Service Ombudsman, powers for it to act on its own initiative were deemed crucial. See Everett M, Draft Public Service Ombudsman Bill, House of Commons Library Briefing CBP-7864, p. 25, retrieved 19 September 2018, https://researchbriefings.parliament.uk/ResearchBriefing/Summary/CBP-7864, and Everett M, A Public Service Ombudsman for the UK, House of Commons Library Briefing CBP-7587, pp. 9–10, retrieved 18 September 2018, https://researchbriefings.parliament.uk/ResearchBriefing/Summary/CBP-7587

effect positive change are often lost when members are tempted to substitute political theatre for real scrutiny. The oral evidence session environment can be overly confrontational in a way that fosters blame rather than learning.

Select committees should help to drive improvement in government through proactive and persistent scrutiny. When failure does occur in spite of early intervention, this means tracking issues over time to encourage officials and ministers to see improvements through. This could involve committees adopting a 'just culture' approach to scrutiny, in order to foster an environment that is more conducive to open enquiry, reflection and learning.¹⁵

To enable more proactive scrutiny, committees need to incorporate issues onto their agendas before they escalate. This could be achieved by using the information generated by assessments of the feasibility of major projects, system statements and reports from ombudsman services (as detailed in other recommendations in this report). This information could help to guide committees' scrutiny efforts and shape their agendas.

There have been numerous recent high-profile examples of government failures where a lack of early intervention meant that harm spread to a wider group of individuals:

- The report of the Gosport Independent Panel highlighted how patients' families spent years trying every conceivable channel to call attention to the ongoing, often fatal, mistreatment of patients at Gosport War Memorial Hospital.¹⁶
- In the case of the Windrush Generation, the "hostile environment" policy was implemented as designed, but resulted in legal residents in the UK being subject to a range of sanctions. As mentioned previously, these issues were evident months before political scrutiny took effect.¹⁷

Such delays also affect the Government's use of taxpayers' money. The National Programme for IT in the NHS was launched in 2002, and struggled from the start. However, PAC did not scrutinise the programme until 2007; then again in 2009 and 2012, as it became increasingly clear that the project was not viable. Earlier scrutiny may have helped to identify issues sooner and forestall the nearly £11.4 billion (bn) wasted on the project.¹⁸

Currently, there is no straightforward or routine way to feed information about growing issues with policies and projects into the select committees in a way that shapes their agenda. It should not be the case that issues are examined only once they become a major political crisis. In the cases of Windrush and Gosport, the warning signs were there but went unnoticed. With the National Programme for IT, the Government's determination to push ahead, and the PAC's focus on finding a responsible individual, precluded learning or improvement.

Moreover, select committees need to scrutinise issues persistently. Currently, their ability to do so is limited by lack of institutional capacity and the time that MPs can commit to committee work.¹⁹ Consequently, select committees struggle to track issues over longer periods, and cannot always ensure that the Government follows up on the

recommendations it has promised to implement. This is particularly pertinent in the case of public inquiries, where there has been a repeated pattern of recommendations going unimplemented, leading to repeated failure. For example:

- The inquest following the 7/7 bomb attacks on public transport in London highlighted how some recommendations from the inquiry into the 1987 King's Cross underground fire were never implemented – in particular, improvements to interoperability and co-ordination between the radio systems of Transport for London and the emergency services.²⁰
- A similar failure to implement recommendations made by the 2004 Shipman Inquiry meant that the procedures used to certify deaths in the NHS remained inadequate.
 This led to recurrence of the same issues just a decade later, as noted in the reports of the 2013 Mid Staffordshire Inquiry, and the 2015 Morecambe Bay investigation.²¹

In these cases there was either no scrutiny by parliamentary committees at all, or the scrutiny of the Government's response to the inquiry was done once – usually in the immediate aftermath of publication – and with no subsequent follow-up.

There are already examples of good practice in following up on major issues. In the context of the Mid Staffordshire Inquiry, the Commons Health Select Committee followed up on implementation, supporting the efforts of then-Minister for Health, Jeremy Hunt, over a period of months and years following publication of the inquiry report. The National Audit Office and the Public Accounts Committee have also tracked major projects – such as Universal Credit – over time, and reported on the sustainability of certain public services on a regular basis. These need to be developed further, as we explore in our recommendations below.

Recommendations

Select committees need enough resources to enable proactive and persistent scrutiny. We propose that committees should seek to draw on additional sources of evidence, so that they have the opportunity to intervene earlier and more proactively when things start to go wrong. We also recommend that select committees should track progress in improving accountability in areas of concern identified by public inquiries. To enable this:

Committees should bring scrutiny to bear earlier – when things are starting to go
wrong – by using additional information to shape their agendas. For example,
committees could use the feasibility assessments discussed above. These
assessments provide additional evidence to the evidence base used to assess
feasibility and risks, and to make decisions about major projects. These documents
could serve as reference points and would help committees to ensure that issues
are caught earlier. In addition, committees could use the proposed assessments of

^{*} Following the Francis Report, the Commons Health Select Committee held its own inquiry to which Sir Robert Francis QC, the then minister, Jeremy Hunt, and permanent secretary at the Department of Health, Dame Una O'Brien, gave evidence. The Government subsequently accepted the majority of recommendations and laid out its responses online. A year later, a two-volume report of lessons learned was published to outline progress in implementing the recommendations of the Francis Report. It stated that the department will report on progress across the system on a yearly basis. The minister then commissioned a follow-up report from Sir Robert Francis in 2015, which made further recommendations.

accountability arrangements in the wider public sector – described in detail elsewhere in this report – to inform their investigations. Similarly, current ombudsman reports and potential future reports from 'own motion' investigations conducted by ombudsman services should be considered as a means to shape the agendas of relevant select committees.

- Committees should pursue accountability for issues of major concern raised by public inquiries. Often, the recommendations made by public inquiries are overlooked or ignored by the Government.²² These recommendations should be owned by a relevant Commons select committee. This committee would scrutinise government departments to ensure that the recommendations are implemented in a way that is both consistent with the Government's response to the inquiry, and timely. We have argued before that scrutinising the implementation of inquiry findings should be added to the core tasks of select committees.²³ This scrutiny would help to keep government's attention focused on important issues.
- Parliament needs to have adequate resources for effective scrutiny. Enhancing Parliament's ability to scrutinise the Government will require additional resources. Currently, the primary limitation on select committees is the amount of time that members can dedicate to them, and there is no easy way to improve this. To make the best use of limited committee time, there needs to be sufficient resources in particular, committee staff to undertake the necessary preparatory work. This involves using both the evidence produced by the other organisations supporting committee work such as the National Audit Office and ombudsman services but also the information flowing from other recommendations in this report.

These recommendations, along with parliamentary recall of former ministers discussed elsewhere in this report, would help select committees to undertake in-depth scrutiny, and to derive learning to prevent future potential failure.

How would this make a difference?

The sources of information we have proposed elsewhere provide persuasive evidence which could encourage members to shape the committees' agenda, and focus their scrutiny efforts. As mentioned previously, earlier scrutiny limits the scale of harm arising from failure. This in turn makes it easier to apply a 'just culture' approach, shifting the focus away from blame towards learning. There are benefits to persistent scrutiny, which supports learning by encouraging government to revisit the mistakes that it has made in a way that helps it improve how it works.

A Parliament with more resources will help to deliver stronger accountability. It would support more proactive scrutiny by providing staff who can sift and use the information being fed to committees. This analysis can be used to spot upcoming issues sooner, and prioritise scrutiny by the relevant committees. In addition, more resources will help Parliament to be more persistent in its scrutiny efforts. Currently, Parliament has a strong sense of procedural continuity, but a far weaker institutional memory about issues subject to scrutiny, partly due to changing committee membership between parliaments. This means that the lessons learned from scrutiny are not always followed up in the medium to long term, both within Parliament and across the Government that it scrutinises. This is particularly relevant to the

implementation of inquiry recommendations. More resources would allow individual committees to monitor the Government's progress in implementing recommendations over a period of several years. Having more committee staff would provide members with more breadth and depth of knowledge, as well as creating a buffer against the problems associated with staff turnover.

Developing future civil service leaders to embrace accountability

The civil service has a strong culture of accountability when it comes to managing public money. To ensure that this culture is maintained and built on, we need wider changes in how accountability is perceived. The civil service should train its staff to develop a better understanding of its systems of accountability, and how best to engage with them in a positive way.

A culture of accountability is built up over time. The civil service has a strong tradition when it comes to certain aspects of accountability. For example, there is a deep cultural tradition of acting within the law, and of spending money only in ways authorised by Parliament. These traits are so strong that they often go unremarked, but they distinguish the [UK] Government from many around the world.

In part, the UK's strengths in these areas arise from the structures of accountability: the system of judicial review, and scrutiny of expenditure by the National Audit Office and Parliament. But it goes deeper than that: the culture of the civil service emphasises that respecting the rule of law, including the legality of spending, is a basic requirement for doing the job well.

The recommendations in this report would enhance existing structures to make Whitehall more accountable – but if they are to work, they need to become embedded within the culture of the civil service. Assessing the effectiveness of accountability arrangements, or the risks involved in delivering major projects, can be easily fudged unless those conducting this work believe that these are fundamentally part of their job.

To a large extent this is an issue of leadership. An effective system of accountability requires a culture that supports leaders who face difficult issues early. It needs a collective sense that accountability structures are there to head off future problems. More pervasively, if the culture extols or promotes civil servants who prioritise satisfying their minister, as opposed to upholding value for money or the public's wider interests, ²⁴ the credibility of the system can be undermined.

The civil service is now investing in developing its leadership. The new Civil Service Leadership Academy provides a focus for developing a new leadership culture. In the words of the Public Administration and Constitutional Affairs Committee, it must become "a place in which Civil Service leaders can reflect and build upon their experiential learning". This should include reflection on how the current structures of accountability work, and how they could be supported to work better, particularly around the key relationships between ministers and civil servants, and between Whitehall and Parliament.

References

1. Introduction

- 1 Guerin B, McCrae J and Shepheard M, Accountability in Modern Government: What are the issues? Institute for Government, 2018, retrieved 6 August 2018: www.instituteforgovernment.org.uk/publications/accountabilitymodern-government-issues
- 2 Aucoin P and Heintzman R, 'The dialectics of accountability for performance in public management reform', *International Review of Administrative Sciences*, 2000, vol. 66, pp. 45–55.
- World Bank, *Accountability in Governance*, 2007, p. 1, retrieved 22 January 2018, https://siteresources.worldbank.org/PUBLICSECTORANDGOVERNANCE/Resources/AccountabilityGovernance.pdf
- Bovens M, Analysing and Assessing Public Accountability. A Conceptual Framework, Eurogov European Governance Papers (C-06-01), 2006, retrieved 22 January 2018, www.mzes.uni-mannheim.de/projekte/typo3/site/fileadmin/wp/abstract/C-06-01.htm
- Ibid. See for example, Knight AD, Lowe T, Brossard M and Wilson J, A Whole New World Funding and commissioning in complexity, Collaborate for Social Change, 2017, p. 8, retrieved 22 January 2018, https://collaboratecic.com/a-whole-new-world-funding-and-commissioning-in-complexity-12b6bdc2abd8; Arugay AA, Sanctions, Rewards and Learning: Enforcing democratic accountability in the delivery of health, education, and water, sanitation and hygiene, International Institute for Democracy and Electoral Assistance, 2016, p. 13, retrieved 22 January 2018, www.idea.int/publications/catalogue/sanctions-rewards-and-learning-enforcing-democratic-accountability-delivery
- 6 Clegg R, Statistical Bulletin: Public sector employment, UK: June 2018, Office for National Statistics, 2018, retrieved 1 October 2018, www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/publicsectorpersonnel/bulletins/publicsectoremployment/june2018
- 7 Guerin B, McCrae J and Shepheard M, Accountability in Modern Government: What are the issues? Institute for Government, 2018, p. 21, retrieved 19 September 2018: www.instituteforgovernment.org.uk/publications/ accountability-modern-government-issues
- 8 Ibid.
- 9 Taylor R, 'Impact of "Hostile Environment" Policy', House of Lords Library Briefing, 11 June 2018, p. 2, retrieved 26 September 2018, https://researchbriefings.parliament.uk/ResearchBriefing/Summary/LLN-2018-0064#fullreport
- 10 Paun A and Harris J, *Accountability at the Top*, Institute for Government, 2013, p. 7, retrieved 22 January 2018, www.instituteforgovernment.org.uk/publications/accountability-top

2. Addressing gaps in Whitehall's accountability

- 1 Guerin B, McCrae J and Shepheard M, Accountability in Modern Government: What are the issues? Institute for Government, 2018, retrieved 6 August 2018: www.instituteforgovernment.org.uk/publications/accountabilitymodern-government-issues
- 2 House of Commons Justice Committee, Transforming Rehabilitation, Ninth Report of Session 2017–19 (HC 482), The Stationery Office, 2018, p. 4, retrieved 26 September 2018, https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201719/cmselect/cmjust/482/482.pdf
- 3 Comptroller and Auditor General, The Delays in Administering the 2005 Single Payment Scheme in England, HC 1631, National Audit Office, 2006, retrieved 22 February 2018, www.nao.org.uk/report/the-delays-in-administering-the-2005-single-payment-scheme-in-england
- 4 Crewe I and King A, The Blunders of Our Governments, Oneworld Press, London, 2013, p. 173.
- Meggs T, 'Crossing the "Valley of Death" How we can bridge the gap between policy creation and delivery', blog, Civil Service Quarterly, 28 March 2018, retrieved 13 August 2018, https://quarterly.blog.gov. uk/2018/03/28/crossing-the-valley-of-death-how-we-can-bridge-the-gap-between-policy-creation-and-delivery/
- 6 Guerin B, McCrae J and Shepheard M, *Accountability in Modern Government: What are the issues?* Institute for Government, 2018, retrieved 6 August 2018: www.instituteforgovernment.org.uk/publications/accountability-modern-government-issues
- 7 Freeguard G and, Cheung A, *Whitehall Monitor 2018*, Institute for Government, 2018, retrieved 13 August 2018, www.instituteforgovernment.org.uk/publication/whitehall-monitor-2018/political-leadership

- 8 Timmins N, *Universal Credit: From disaster to recovery*? Institute for Government, 2016, p. 49, retrieved 22 January 2018, www.instituteforgovernment.org.uk/publications/universal-credit-disaster-recovery
- See Lovegrove S, 'Watchkeeper accounting officer assessment', letter to Meg Hillier MP, Chair of the Public Accounts Committee, 29 January 2018, retrieved 8 March 2018, http://data.parliament.uk/DepositedPapers/Files/DEP2018-0133/Meg_Hillier_Watchkeeper_AO_Assessment.pdf; Chisholm A, 'Accounting Officer Memorandum: Heat Networks Investment Project (HNIP) main scheme outline business case', letter to Claire Perry MP, Minister of State for Energy and Clean Growth, and Meg Hillier MP, Chair, Committee of Public Accounts, 22 June 2018, retrieved 3 September 2018, https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/732256/hnip-accounting-officer-assessment.pdf
- Whitfield J, 'Looking at internal audit through a new lens', Civil Service Quarterly, no. 17, June 2018, p. 22, retrieved 17 September 2018: https://quarterly.blog.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/5/2018/07/6.4542_CO_CSQ17_200718_Web.pdf
- 11 Paun A and Barlow P, Civil Service Accountability to Parliament, Institute for Government, 2014, p. 15, retrieved 6 August 2018, www.instituteforgovernment.org.uk/sites/default/files/publications/civil%20service%20 accountability%20to%20parliament.pdf
- 12 Cabinet Office, *Giving Evidence to Select Committees: Guidance for civil servants*, 2014, p. 8, retrieved 6 August 2018, https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/364600/Osmotherly_Rules_October_2014.pdf
- House of Commons Select Committee on Public Accounts, 'Minutes of evidence: Examination of witnesses, Questions 20–39', Home Office, 26 April 2006, retrieved 26 September 2018, https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm200506/cmselect/cmpubacc/1079/6042603.htm
- 14 White H, *Parliamentary Scrutiny of Government*, Institute for Government, 2015, p. 24, retrieved 26 September 2018, www.instituteforgovernment.org.uk/publications/parliamentary-scrutiny-government
- Meggs T, 'Crossing the "Valley of Death" How we can bridge the gap between policy creation and delivery, blog, Civil Service Quarterly, 28 March 2018, retrieved 13 August 2018, https://quarterly.blog.gov. uk/2018/03/28/crossing-the-valley-of-death-how-we-can-bridge-the-gap-between-policy-creation-and-delivery/
- House of Commons Committee of Public Accounts, Third Annual Report of the Chair of the Committee of Public Accounts, Second Special Report of Session 2017–19 (HC 1399), The Stationery Office, 2018, p. 5, retrieved 6 August 2018, https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201719/cmselect/cmpubacc/1399/1399.pdf
- Fulton J, *The Civil Service: Vol 1. Report of the Committee 1966–68*, 1969, Cmnd. 3638, retrieved 2 October 2018, www.civilservant.org.uk/library/fulton/fulton1.pdf
- See McCrae J and Gold J, Professionalising Whitehall, Institute for Government, 2017, p. 4, retrieved 22 January 2018, www.instituteforgovernment.org.uk/publications/professionalising-whitehall-september-2017; House of Commons Committee of Public Accounts, Transforming Contract Management (HC 585), The Stationery Office, 2014, retrieved 23 January 2018, https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201415/cmselect/cmpubacc/585/585.pdf; House of Commons Committee of Public Accounts, Contracting out Public Services to the Private Sector (HC 777), The Stationery Office, 2014, p. 7, retrieved 23 January 2018, https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201314/cmselect/cmpubacc/777/77702.htm
- House of Commons Committee of Public Accounts, Modernising the Disclosure and Barring Service, Forty-Second Report of Session 2017–19 (HC 695), The Stationery Office, 2018, p. 3, retrieved 6 August 2018: https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201719/cmselect/cmpubacc/695/695.pdf
- 20 *Ibid.*, p. 10.
- 21 Brecknell S, 'Civil service leaders must re-prioritise for Brexit, says chief John Manzoni', *Civil Service World*, 9 November 2016, www.civilserviceworld.com/articles/news/civil-service-leaders-must-re-prioritise-brexit-says-chief-john-manzoni
- See House of Commons Committee of Public Accounts, The Failure of the FiReControl Project (HC 1397), The Stationery Office, 2011, Evidence 2, retrieved 22 January 2018, https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201012/cmselect/cmpubacc/1397/1397.pdf; Comptroller and Auditor General, The Failure of the FiReControl Project, HC 1272, National Audit Office, 2011, p. 4, retrieved 22 January 2018, www.nao.org.uk/report/the-failure-of-the-firecontrol-project; Comptroller and Auditor General, Accountability to Parliament for Taxpayers' Money, HC 849, National Audit Office, 2016, p. 28, retrieved 22 January 2018, www.nao.org.uk/report/accountability-to-parliament-for-taxpayers-money
- 23 Comptroller and Auditor General, *Universal Credit: Early progress*, HC 621, National Audit Office, 2013, p. 7, retrieved 22 February 2018, www.nao.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/09/10132-001-Universal-credit.pdf
- 24 Comptroller and Auditor General, Accountability to Parliament for Taxpayers' Money, HC 849, National Audit Office, 2016, p. 6, retrieved 22 January 2018, www.nao.org.uk/report/accountability-to-parliament-for-taxpayers-money

- Public Administration and Constitutional Affairs Committee, *The Minister and the Official: The fulcrum of Whitehall effectiveness, Fifth Report of Session 2017–19* (HC 497), The Stationery Office, 2018, p. 28, retrieved 6 August 2018, https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201719/cmselect/cmpubadm/497/497.pdf
- 26 Comptroller and Auditor General, Accountability to Parliament for Taxpayers' Money, HC 849, National Audit Office, 2016, p. 25, retrieved 6 August 2018, www.nao.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/02/Accountability-for-Taxpayers-money.pdf
- 27 Slater J, 'T-Level timetable: Direction', letter to Rt Hon Damian Hinds MP, Secretary of State for Education, 17 May 2018, retrieved 6 August 2018, https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/710831/180517_Request_for_Ministerial_Direction_-_T-Levels.pdf
- 28 McCrae J and Gold J, *Professionalising Whitehall*, Institute for Government, 2017, p. 3, retrieved 3 September 2018, www.instituteforgovernment.org.uk/publications/professionalising-whitehall-september-2017
- 29 Hazell R, Cogbill A, Owen D, Webber H and Chebib L, Critical Friends? The role of non executives on Whitehall boards, UCL Constitution Unit, 2018, p. 8, retrieved 15 August 2018, www.ucl.ac.uk/constitution-unit/publications/tabs/unit-publications/178_-_Critical_Friends__The_Role_of_Non_Executives_on_Whitehall_Boards
- 30 Page J, Pearson J, Panchamia N, Thomas P and Traficante J, *Leading Change in the Civil Service*, Institute for Government, 2014, p. 34, retrieved 2 August 2018, www.instituteforgovernment.org.uk/sites/default/files/publications/310314%20LCCS%20MASTER%20FINAL.pdf
- 31 Wheatley M, 'Repurposing Whitehall', discussion paper, GovernUp, 2015, p. 26, retrieved 6 August 2018, https://static1.squarespace.com/ static/5334b63fe4b089a9d0f05252/t/54da70c4e4b067c4d1d5135e/1423601860269/ Repurposing+Whitehall+-+GovernUp.pdf
- 32 Panchamia N and Thomas P, Civil Service Reform in the Real World: Patterns of success in UK civil service reform, Institute for Government, 2013, p. 69, retrieved 2 August 2018, www.instituteforgovernment.org.uk/sites/default/files/publications/260314%20CSRW%20-%20final.pdf

3. Making accountability work in a complex public sector

- See Thorpe K, *Public Service Markets; A practical guide*, Institute for Government, 2015, retrieved 23 February 2018, www.instituteforgovernment.org.uk/publication/why-move-public-service-markets; Lane JE, *New Public Management*, Routledge, 2002, p. 3.
- 2 Andrews E, Lilly A, Campbell L, McCrae J, Douglas R and Bijl J, *Performance Tracker: A data-driven analysis of the performance of public services*, Institute for Government, Autumn 2017, p. 8, retrieved 6 August 2018, www.instituteforgovernment.org.uk/our-work/performance-tracker
- Wheatley M, Maddox B and Kidney Bishop T, The 2019 Spending Review: How to run it well, Institute for Government, 2018, p. 21, retrieved 26 September 2018, www.instituteforgovernment.org.uk/ publications/2019-spending-review
- 4 Andrews E, Lilly A, Campbell L, McCrae J, Douglas R and Bijl J, *Performance Tracker: A data-driven analysis of the performance of public services*, Institute for Government, Autumn 2017, p. 88, retrieved 6 August 2018, www.instituteforgovernment.org.uk/our-work/performance-tracker
- 5 Ibid
- 6 Andrews E, Atkins G, Campbell L, Tetlow G and Lilly A, *Performance Tracker 2018: A data-driven analysis of the performance of public services*, Institute for Government, 2018, pp. 106 and 110, retrieved 12 October 2018, www.instituteforgovernment.org.uk/our-work/performance-tracker
- 7 Andrews E, Lilly A, Campbell L, McCrae J, Douglas R and Bijl J, *Performance Tracker: A data-driven analysis of the performance of public services*, Institute for Government, Autumn 2017, p. 7, retrieved 6 August 2018, www.instituteforgovernment.org.uk/our-work/performance-tracker
- 8 Comptroller and Auditor General, Financial Sustainability of the NHS, HC 785, National Audit Office, 2016, p. 7, retrieved 26 September 2018, www.nao.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/11/Financial-Sustainability-of-the-NHS.pdf
- 9 Andrews E, Lilly A, Campbell L, McCrae J, Douglas R and Bijl J, *Performance Tracker: A data-driven analysis of the performance of government*, Institute for Government, Autumn 2017, p. 22, retrieved 26 September 2018, www.instituteforgovernment.org.uk/our-work/performance-tracker
- 10 *Ibid.*, p. 23.
- 11 Comptroller and Auditor General, *Spending Review 2015*, HC 571, National Audit Office, 2016, p. 7, retrieved 7 August 2018, www.nao.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/07/Spending-Review-2015.pdf
- 12 Wheatley M, Maddox B and Kidney Bishop T, *The 2019 Spending Review: How to run it well*, Institute for Government, 2018, p. 16, retrieved 26 September 2018, www.instituteforgovernment.org.uk/publications/2019-spending-review

- 13 Andrews E, Lilly A, Campbell L, McCrae J, Douglas R and Bijl J, *Performance Tracker: A data-driven analysis of the performance of government*, Institute for Government, Spring 2017, pp. 51-52, retrieved 1 October 2018, https://www.instituteforgovernment.org.uk/sites/default/files/Performance%20Tracker%20final%20web_0. pdf
- 14 Ibid.
- 15 House of Commons Procedure Committee, Authorising Government Expenditure: Steps to more effective scrutiny, Fifth Report of Session 2016–17 (HC 190), The Stationery Office, 2017, p. 12, retrieved 26 September 2018, https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201617/cmselect/cmproced/190/190.pdf
- 16 Andrews E, Lilly A, Campbell L, McCrae J, Douglas R and Bijl J, *Performance Tracker: A data-driven analysis of the performance of government*, Institute for Government, Autumn 2017, pp. 77 and 80, retrieved 26 September 2018, www.instituteforgovernment.org.uk/our-work/performance-tracker
- 17 Comptroller and Auditor General, Sustainability and Transformation in the NHS, HC 719, National Audit Office, 2018, p. 12, retrieved 21 August 2018, www.nao.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/01/Sustainability-and-transformation-in-the-NHS.pdf
- 18 Wheatley M, Maddox B and Kidney Bishop T, The 2019 Spending Review: How to run it well, Institute for Government, 2018, p. 42, retrieved 26 September 2018, www.instituteforgovernment.org.uk/ publications/2019-spending-review
- 19 Ibid., p. 42.
- 20 Ibid.
- 21 Ibid., p. 42.
- 22 Leigh E and Pugh J, Options to Improve Parliamentary Scrutiny of Government Expenditure: A report to the Chancellor, 2011, p. 4, retrieved 1 October 2018, http://data.parliament.uk/DepositedPapers/Files/DEP2012-1915/document2012-12-12-142104.pdf
- 23 *Ibid.*, p. 18.
- 24 House of Commons Procedure Committee, Should there be a Commons Budget Committee? Inquiry, retrieved 26 September 2018, www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/commons-select/procedure-committee/inquiries/parliament-2017/commons-budget-committee-17-19/
- 25 Fabian Society, 2030 Vision: The final report of the Fabian Commission on future spending choices, Fabian Society, 2013, p. 69, retrieved 7 August 2018, https://fabians.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/10/2030_Vision_web-2.pdf
- 26 Guerin B, McCrae J and Shepheard M, Accountability in Modern Government: What are the issues? Institute for Government, 2018, pp. 25–6, retrieved 6 August 2018: www.instituteforgovernment.org.uk/publications/accountability-modern-government-issues
- 27 City of Bradford Metropolitan District Council, 'Bradford demands the return of all monies taken from our district's schools by Wakefield City Academies Trust (WCAT)', 12 December 2017, retrieved 22 January 2018, https://bradford.moderngov.co.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1588
- 28 Hazell W, 'WCAT board members blamed DfE for problems', Times Education Supplement, 16 November 2017, retrieved 9 February 2018, www.tes.com/news/school-news/breaking-news/wcat-board-members-blameddfe-problems
- 29 Committee of Public Accounts, 'Education Funding Agency and Department for Education Financial Statements recall', letter to Chris Wormald, 12 February 2015, retrieved 13 February 2018, www.parliament.uk/documents/commons-committees/public-accounts/Chair-to-Chris-Wormald.pdf
- 30 Comptroller and Auditor General, Academies and Maintained Schools: Oversight and intervention, HC 721, National Audit Office, 2014, p. 10, retrieved 22 February 2018, www.nao.org.uk/report/academies-and-maintained-schools-oversight-and-intervention
- 31 Comptroller and Auditor General, Investigation into the Governance of Greater Cambridge Greater Peterborough Local Enterprise Partnership, HC 410, National Audit Office, 2017, retrieved 1 October 2018, www.nao.org.uk/ report/investigation-into-the-governance-of-greater-cambridge-greater-peterborough-local-enterprisepartnership/
- Comptroller and Auditor General, *Local Enterprise Partnerships*, HC 887, National Audit Office, 2016, retrieved 1 October 2018, www.nao.org.uk/report/local-enterprise-partnerships/
- 33 Ministry of Housing Communities and Local Government, *Building Safety Programme: Update and consolidated advice for building owners following large-scale testing*, 5 September 2017, retrieved 10 August 2018, www.gov.uk/government/publications/building-safety-programme-update-and-consolidated-advice-for-building-owners-following-large-scale-testing

- Hackitt J, Building a Safer Future: Independent review of building regulations and fire safety. Final Report, Cm 9607, 2018, p. 5, retrieved 7 August 2018: https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/707785/Building_a_Safer_Future_-_web.pdf
- Jones J, Gosport War Memorial Hospital: The report of the Gosport Independent Panel (HC 1084), The Stationery Office, 2018, retrieved 7 August 2018 www.gosportpanel.independent.gov.uk/media/documents/070618_ CCS207_CCS03183220761_Gosport_Inquiry_Whole_Document.pdf
- Andrews E, Lilly A, Campbell L, McCrae J, Douglas R and Bijl J, *Performance Tracker: A data-driven analysis of the performance of government*, Institute for Government, 2017, pp. 82–3, retrieved 26 September 2018, www. instituteforgovernment.org.uk/sites/default/files/publications/Performance%20tracker%20Oct%2017%20 web.pdf
- 37 House of Commons Committee of Public Accounts, *Accountability to Parliament for taxpayers' money*. House of Commons (HC 732), The Stationery Office, 2016. https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201516/cmselect/cmpubacc/732/732.pdf
- 38 Brown R, DAO 01/17 Accounting Officer System Statements. HM Treasury, 7 April 2017, www.gov.uk/government/publications/dao-0117-accounting-officer-system-statements
- 39 Comptroller and Auditor General, Accountability to Parliament for Taxpayers' Money, HC 849, National Audit Office, 2016, retrieved 22 January 2018, www.nao.org.uk/report/accountability-to-parliament-for-taxpayers-money/
- Wilson S, Davison N, Clarke M and Casebourne J, Joining Up Public Services around Local, Citizen Needs: Perennial challenges and insights on how to tackle them, Institute for Government, 2015, retrieved 26 September 2018, www.instituteforgovernment.org.uk/sites/default/files/publications/4564%20IFG%20-%20Joining%20 up%20around%20local%20v11c.pdf
- Vaughan Thomas H, 'Auditor General for Wales: Valedictory reflections', letter to Mr Nick Ramsay AM, Chair, Public Accounts Committee, National Assembly for Wales, 27 June 2018, p. 3, retrieved 26 September 2018, www.audit.wales/system/files/publications/valedictory-letter-2018-english.pdf
- 42 Andrews A, Lilly A, Campbell L, McCrae J, Douglas R and Bijl J, *Performance Tracker: A data-driven analysis of the performance of government*, 2017, Institute for Government, p. 29, retrieved 21 August 2018, www.instituteforgovernment.org.uk/publications/performance-tracker-autumn-2017
- 43 Comptroller and Auditor General, Financial Sustainability of Police Forces in England and Wales, HC 78, National Audit Office, 2015, retrieved 10 September 2018, www.nao.org.uk/report/financial-sustainability-of-police-forces-in-england-and-wales/
- 44 HM Chief Inspector of Constabulary, State of Policing: The Annual Assessment of Policing in England and Wales 2016, 2017, retrieved 10 September 2018, www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/wp-content/uploads/state-of-policing-2016.pdf
- 45 Agnew R, 'Building on the foundation of general strain theory: Specifying the types of strain most likely to lead to crime and delinquency', *Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency*, 2001, vol. 38, 319–61.
- 46 Cuellar AE and Markowitz S, 'School suspension and the school-to-prison pipeline', *International Review of Law and Economics*, 2015, vol. 43, 98–106.
- 47 House of Commons Education Committee, Forgotten Children: Alternative provision and the scandal of ever increasing exclusions, Fifth Report of Session 2017–19 (HC 342), retrieved 26 September 2018, https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201719/cmselect/cmeduc/342/342.pdf
- 48 Comptroller and Auditor General, *Homelessness*, HC 208, National Audit Office, 2017, p. 7, retrieved 26 September 2018, www.nao.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/09/Homelessness.pdf
- 49 Comptroller and Auditor General, The Health and Social Care Interface, HC 950, National Audit Office, 2018, retrieved 26 September 2018, www.nao.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/The-health-and-social-care-interface.pdf
- 50 Comptroller and Auditor General, *Spending Review 2015*, HC 571, National Audit Office, 2016, p. 15, retrieved 7 August 2018, www.nao.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/07/Spending-Review-2015.pdf
- 51 See for example, Wilson S, Davison N, Clarke M and Casebourne J, *Joining Up Public Services around Local*, *Citizen Needs: Perennial challenges and insights on how to tackle them*, Institute for Government, 2015, retrieved 26 September 2018, www.instituteforgovernment.org.uk/sites/default/files/publications/4564%20IFG%20 -%20Joining%20up%20around%20local%20v11c.pdf
- 52 Centre for Public Scrutiny, Local Public Accounts Committees: Why is it needed? What will it deliver? How will it work? Discussion paper, February 2018, retrieved 26 September 2018, www.cfps.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/CfPS-Local-Public-Accounts-Committees-v3.pdf

4. Creating a culture of improvement

- 1 Guerin B, McCrae J and Shepheard M, Accountability in Modern Government: What are the issues? Institute for Government, 2018, retrieved 6 August 2018, www.instituteforgovernment.org.uk/publications/accountabilitymodern-government-issues
- Mellor J, Martin J and Bradley A, My Expectations for Raising Concerns and Complaints, Parliamentary and Health Service Ombudsman, 2014, retrieved 19 September 2018, www.ombudsman.org.uk/sites/default/files/ Report_My_expectations_for_raising_concerns_and_complaints.pdf
- 3 Healthwatch England, Suffering in Silence: Listening to consumer experiences of the health and social care complaints system, 2014, p. 3, retrieved 21 September 2018, www.healthwatch.co.uk/files/hwe-complaints-report.pdf
- 4 Dekker S, Just Culture: Restoring trust and accountability in your organisation, 3rd edition, CRC Press, 2017.
- 5 Dekker SWA, 'Just culture: Who gets to draw the line?', Cognition, Technology & Work, 2007, DOI 10.1007/ s10111-008-0110-7, p. 1, retrieved 18 September 2018, www.humanfactors.lth.se/fileadmin/lusa/Sidney_ Dekker/articles/2008/JustCultureCTW.pdf
- 6 Healthcare Safety Investigation Branch, Our purpose, 2017, retrieved 19 September 2018, www.hsib.org.uk
- House of Lords and House of Commons Joint Committee on the Draft Health Service Safety Investigations Bill, Draft Health Service Safety Investigations Bill: A new capability for investigating patient safety incidents, Report of Session 2017–19 (HL Paper 180, HC 1064), The Stationery Office, p. 13, retrieved 26 September 2018, https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/jt201719/jtselect/jthssib/1064/1064.pdf, quoted from 'Written evidence submitted by the Care Quality Commission (CQC) (SIB0040)', retrieved 26 September 2018, http://data.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/committeeevidence.svc/evidencedocument/draft-health-service-safety-investigations-bill-committee/draft-health-service-safety-investigations-bill/written/84992.html
- 8 Lowe T, 'Performance management in the voluntary sector: Responding to complexity', *Voluntary Sector Review*, 2017, vol. 8, no. 3, pp. 319–31.
- 9 Guerin B, McCrae J and Shepheard M, Accountability in Modern Government: What are the issues? Institute for Government, 2018, retrieved 6 August 2018: www.instituteforgovernment.org.uk/publications/accountabilitymodern-government-issues
- 10 *Ibid.*, p. 33.
- House of Commons Home Affairs Committee, The Windrush Generation: Sixth Report of Session 2017–19 (HC 990), The Stationery Office, 2018, p. 29, retrieved 26 September 2018, https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201719/cmselect/cmhaff/990/990.pdf
- 12 Francis R (2013) Report of the Mid Staffordshire Foundation Trust Public Inquiry: Executive summary, February 2013, p. 3, retrieved 26 September 2018, www.gov.uk/government/publications/report-of-the-mid-staffordshire-nhs-foundation-trust-public-inquiry
- 13 Cabinet Office, *Draft Public Service Ombudsman Bill*, Cm 9374, The Stationery Office, 2016, retrieved 26 September 2018, https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/575922/draft_public_service_ombudsman_bill_print_version_december_2016.pdf
- Everett M, House of Commons Library Briefing Paper: Draft Public Service Ombudsman Bill (CBP 7864), 13 January 2017, p. 25, retrieved 26 September 2018, https://researchbriefings.parliament.uk/ResearchBriefing/Summary/CBP-7864; Gordon R, Better to Serve the Public: Proposals to restructure, reform, renew and reinvigorate public services ombudsmen, October 2014, p. 50, retrieved 1 October 2018, www.gov.uk/government/consultations/public-service-ombudsman; House of Commons Public Administration Select Committee (PASC), Time for a People's Ombudsman Service, Fourteenth Report of Session 2013–14 (HC 655), April 2014, p. 27, retrieved 1 October 2018, https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201314/cmselect/cmpubadm/655/655.pdf; de Langen MS, 'Investigative Powers of the Ombudsman: A brief description of the legal context of own initiative investigations by the National Ombudsman of the Netherlands', 21 September 2017, retrieved 26 September 2018, https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3048042; Queensland Legal Services Commission, 'Own motion investigations', 21 April 2018, retrieved 26 September 2018, www.lsc.qld.gov.au/complaints/own-motion-investigations
- 15 Dekker S, Just Culture: Restoring trust and accountability in your organization, 3rd edition, CRC Press, 2017.
- 16 Jones J, Gosport War Memorial Hospital: The Report of the Gosport Independent Panel, HC 1084, The Stationery Office, 2018, retrieved 26 September 2018, www.gosportpanel.independent.gov.uk/media/ documents/070618_CCS207_CCS03183220761_Gosport_Inquiry_Whole_Document.pdf
- House of Commons Home Affairs Select Committee, *The Windrush Generation* (HC 990), The Stationery Office, 2018, retrieved 10 September 2018: https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201719/cmselect/cmhaff/990/990.pdf
- 18 Comptroller and Auditor General, Accountability to Parliament for Taxpayers' Money (HC 849), National Audit Office, 2016, p. 29, retrieved 22 January 2018, www.nao.org.uk/report/accountability-to-parliament-for-taxpayers-money/

- 19 Lilly A, White H and Haigh J, Parliamentary Monitor 2018, Institute for Government, 2018, p. 66, retrieved 26 September 2018, www.instituteforgovernment.org.uk/sites/default/files/publications/IFGJ6416-Parliamentary-Monitor-Report-2018-1808-WEB-FINAL.pdf
- Fennell D, Investigation into the King's Cross Underground Fire, Department of Transport, Cm 499, Her Majesty's Stationery Office, 1988, p. 165, retrieved 19 September 2018, www.railwaysarchive.co.uk/documents/DoT_KX1987.pdf; Hallett H, 'Coroner's Inquests into the London Bombings of 7 July 2005: Report under Rule 43 of The Coroner's Rules 1984', 2011, p. 38, retrieved 19 September 2018, http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20120216072447/http://7julyinquests.independent.gov.uk/docs/orders/rule43-report.pdf
- 21 Kirkup B, The Report of the Morecambe Bay Investigation, The Stationery Office, 2015, p. 175, retrieved 19 September 2018: https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/408480/47487_MBI_Accessible_v0.1.pdf; Francis R, Report of the Mid Staffordshire NHS Foundation Trust Public Inquiry. Volume 2: Analysis of evidence and lessons learned (part 2), HC 898-II, The Stationery Office, 2013, p. 1117, retrieved 19 September 2018, www.bl.uk/britishlibrary/~/media/bl/global/social-welfare/pdfs/non-secure/r/e/p/report-of-the-mid-staffordshire-nhs-foundation-trust-public-inquiry-vol2-analysis-of-evidence-and-lessons-learned-part-2.pdf
- Norris E and Shepheard M, *How Public Inquiries can Lead to Change*, Institute for Government, 2017, retrieved 2 October 2018, www.instituteforgovernment.org.uk/publications/how-public-inquiries-can-lead-change
- 23 Ibid., p. 4.
- 24 Comptroller and Auditor General, Accountability to Parliament for Taxpayers' Money, HC 849, National Audit Office, 2016, p. 6, retrieved 22 January 2018, www.nao.org.uk/report/accountability-to-parliament-for-taxpayers-money
- 25 House of Commons Public Administration and Constitutional Affairs Committee, The Minister and the Official: The fulcrum of Whitehall effectiveness, Fifth Report of Session 2017–19 (HC 497), The Stationery Office, 2018, p. 45, retrieved 6 August 2018, https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201719/cmselect/ cmpubadm/497/497.pdf

Advisory group

We are grateful to our advisory group for their expert comments on our work. Our panel, detailed below, includes members from all interested perspectives.



Sir David Bell

Sir David Bell is the current Vice-Chancellor and Chief Executive of the University of Sunderland, having previously been Vice-Chancellor of the University of Reading between 2012 and 2018. He has spent much of his career working in public service, as Director of Education for Newcastle City Council from 1995 to 2000, then as Chief Executive of Bedfordshire County Council.

He was HM Chief Inspector of Schools at Ofsted from 2002 to 2005, and Permanent Secretary at the Department for Education from 2006 to 2012.



The Rt Hon Dominic Grieve QC, MP

The Rt Hon Dominic Grieve QC is a Conservative politician and Member of Parliament for Beaconsfield since 1997. He is the current Chair of the Intelligence and Security Committee of Parliament. He was previously Attorney General for England and Wales and Advocate General for Northern Ireland, Shadow Secretary of State for Justice, Shadow Home Secretary and

Shadow Attorney General. Before entering politics, he was a barrister specialising in occupational safety and health law from 1980 to 1997. He was appointed Queen's Counsel in 2008, and Privy Council in 2010.



The Rt Hon Dame Margaret Hodge MP

The Rt Hon Margaret Hodge is a Labour politician and Member of Parliament for Barking since 1994. She is the former Chair of the Commons Public Accounts Committee. She has previously served as Minister of State for Culture and Tourism, Minister of State for Work, Minister of State for Children, Minister for Universities, and Under-Secretary of State for Disabled People. She now chairs the

All-Party Parliamentary Group on Responsible Taxation, which aims to help Parliament build and maintain a fair, sustainable and transparent tax system.



Jacqui McKinlay

Jacqui McKinlay is the current Chief Executive of the Centre for Public Scrutiny. The Centre has a long track record of supporting and promoting good governance and scrutiny in local government, as well as other public services and the private sector. Prior to this, she was Director of Strategy and Customer Services at Staffordshire County Council, and has worked in

health, sport and the civil service.



Dame Julie Mellor

Dame Julie Mellor is the Chair of the Young Foundation, as well as serving as a trustee for Involve, the participation organisation, and Clore Social Leadership. From 2012 to 2017, she was Chair of the Parliamentary and Health Service Ombudsman, which deals with complaints about public services and supports the Public Administration and Constitutional Affairs Select Committee in

holding government to account for good administration. Following a career in business, she became Chair of the Equal Opportunities Commission from 1999 to 2005, then a partner at PwC (formerly PricewaterhouseCoopers). She has served as a non-executive board member at Nesta, the national innovation body, Department for Business, Innovation and Skills, Commission for Racial Equality, National Consumer Council and Employers' Forum on Disability.



Sir Richard Mottram

Sir Richard Mottram is a Visiting Professor at the London School of Economics. Until recently he was the chair of Amey plc. From 1992 to 2007, he held a number of permanent secretary appointments in the civil service: heading the Ministry of Defence, Department of the Environment, Transport and the Regions, and Department for Work and Pensions, as well as

serving twice in different roles in the Cabinet Office dealing with, among other things, public service and civil service reform.



Professor Tony Travers

Professor Tony Travers is an academic and journalist who specialises in issues affecting local government. He currently holds a professorship within the Department of Government at the London School of Economics. He served as a member of the Audit Commission from 1992 to 1997, and was a Senior Associate of The King's Fund from 1999 to 2004.

ADVISORY GROUP 51

About the authors

Julian McCrae is an Associate and former Deputy Director of the Institute for Government. Julian joined the Institute in July 2009 from the Prime Minister's Strategy Unit, where he was Deputy Director. He started his career at the Institute for Fiscal Studies, where he spent eight years and published work on the UK's personal taxation and welfare system.

Benoit Guerin is a Senior Researcher at the Institute for Government. Prior to that, he worked on cross-government reviews at the National Audit Office. He has advised governments and EU institutions as a member of the performance evaluation team at RAND. Benoit has worked in the French Prime Minister's strategy unit, and used to be an intern at the Institute.

Marcus Shepheard is a Researcher at the Institute for Government. In addition to our work on public inquiries, he has worked on the Institute's Brexit team. Marcus also worked for the Royal Society and the Parliamentary Office of Science and Technology.

Acknowledgements

This project is based on interviews, desk research and workshops that took place between November 2017 and October 2018. This report reflects the Institute for Government's views, and any errors or omissions are those of the authors alone.

We are extremely grateful to all those who shared their insights with us, especially our advisory group: Sir David Bell, Rt Hon Dominic Grieve QC, MP, Rt Hon Dame Margaret Hodge MP, Jacqui McKinlay, Dame Julie Mellor, Sir Richard Mottram and Professor Tony Travers.

We are grateful to our interviewees, the participants in our two workshops in the summer, and those who corresponded with us following the publication of our discussion paper. We are also grateful to civil servants across Whitehall, as well as Alex Burfitt, Jenny George, Antonia Gracie, Abdool Kara, Aileen Murphie, Pauline Ngan and Max Tse at the National Audit Office, for their helpful comments and constructive criticism.

We also would like to thank Emma Maloney and Susanna Smith at the Association of Chief Executives and Public Chairs' Forum, as well as colleagues at the Institute for Government – particularly Emily Andrews, Matthew Batchelor, Nick Davies, Gavin Freeguard, Cath Haddon, Melissa Ittoo, Tess Kidney Bishop, Bronwen Maddox, Emma Norris, Akash Paun, Jill Rutter, Gemma Tetlow, Nicole Valentinuzzi, Martin Wheatley and Hannah White – for their comments and assistance with this publication.



The Institute for Government is the leading think tank working to make government more effective.

We provide rigorous research and analysis, topical commentary and public events to explore the key challenges facing government.

We offer a space for discussion and fresh thinking, to help senior politicians and civil servants think differently and bring about change.



- instituteforgovernment.org.uk
- enquiries@instituteforgovernment.org.uk
- @instituteforgov

Institute for Government, 2 Carlton Gardens London SW1Y 5AA, United Kingdom